
Regarding the criminal complaint for defamation and attempted fraud, the following facts were 
presented: 

I. Contact with the Russian Embassy 

In the criminal complaint/criminal application dated August 9, 2021, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein reported 
the following false allegation, which was presented with a submission dated April 22, 2021, with the 
indication that this matter was a reason for her non-reappointment as the Managing Director of 
WMS: 

"The plaintiff here, without coordinating this with the Mayor of the City of Soest, contacted the Rus-
sian Embassy, which was understandable cause for the Bezirksregierung Arnsberg to remind the Ma-
yor of the City of Soest in a letter dated October 23, 2018, to adhere to the official channels. Once 
again, this demonstrates that the plaintiff tries to enforce her point of view on her own. She does not 
seek coordination." 

In response to this, we replied in the proceedings with a redacted submission dated June 15, 2021, as 
follows: 

"This assertion is as incorrect as it is malicious and demonstrates the complete malevolence and sha-
melessness with which the plaintiff's non-reappointment was pursued: 

As already explained in Section I.2, the plaintiff considered it punitive that she had to take care of the 
design of the gravesite and the funeral service. 
 
 
Already on March 3, 2018, which is 7 months before the complaint from the Bezirksregierung, she 
wrote to the Mayor regarding this matter: 

"It is, of course, my responsibility to ensure that the Soviet dead are transported from the construc-
tion site to the cemetery. However, I do not consider it the task of WMS to organize a 'state funeral' 
for the war dead with the Russian Embassy. If the dead had been found in Lieschen Müller's garden, 
one would not leave it to Lieschen Müller either. The main thing is that dignitaries from the city are 
present at the funeral, many of whom I do not know, and I have no contact with most of them, so we 
will have a lot of work to do to get acquainted. The Russian Embassy also sees only you as the Mayor 
as the contact person and corresponds only with you. 

Since I started at WMS 18 months ago, I have had almost no free time. I work every evening and 
every weekend, and the few vacation days I have had so far have only been a change of workplace. I 
have never complained about this and will not. That is the price to pay for turning a project 
scheduled for 7-10 years into a project that will probably only run for a little over 2 years. I am willing 
to pay this price. My partner also accepts it because she comes from the international transaction 
business and is familiar with such working hours. 

However, it means that I cannot activate any additional time capacities to take on additional tasks. 
And my employees are already working beyond the limits allowed by the TVöD [collective wage ag-
reement for the public sector]. If I now organize a funeral, other important tasks will be neglected." 

To this email, the Mayor responded even more annoyed on Sunday, March 4, 2018, at 7:57 am as 
follows: 



"Since you have so far taken over the correspondence and contact with the Embassy and the War 
Graves Office, it is appropriate for you to clarify the framework conditions for a memorial ceremony. 
I expect a coordinated proposal from you by Monday at 12:00. You can then coordinate the process 
and organization with me. You will receive the necessary information and, if necessary, the required 
support from me for the invitation and execution." 
 

The plaintiff responded to this as follows, also on the same Sunday: 

"Since it has been agreed that the headstone for the memorial ceremony should only be erected 
first, I do not consider the deadline until tomorrow at 12:00 to be necessary. Nevertheless, I will try 
to call the War Graves Office and the Embassy tomorrow morning, even though I actually need to 
take care of the invitation to the Supervisory Board, which has to be sent out tomorrow, and the final 
negotiation of the purchase contracts is also much more important." 

After the Bezirksregierung complained to the Mayor on October 23, 2018, about the failure to follow 
the proper channels, the plaintiff assumed that she could finally delegate this task. However, even 
after this letter, the Mayor insisted that she continue to handle this task. 

An email from the Mayor to the plaintiff dated February 28, 2019, and the plaintiff's response to it, 
also dated February 28, 2019, show that at this point in time - five months after the complaint from 
the Bezirksregierung - the plaintiff was still entrusted with organizing the burial for the Soviet war 
dead. In his email, the Mayor explicitly asks the plaintiff for an update. He asks verbatim: "Has the 
burial of the Russian (sic!) prisoners of war been arranged?" 

Evidence: Attachment K26: Letter from the plaintiff to the Mayor dated February 28, 2019 

The plaintiff retained this task until her departure. 

When the defendant now asserts in its response to the complaint that the plaintiff was the cause of 
the friction with the Bezirksregierung and the state government because she unilaterally contacted 
the Embassy of the Russian Federation and, moreover, did not follow the proper channels, this is a 
false statement of fact that is capable of damaging the plaintiff's public reputation. But above all, the 
basis of this assertion by the defendant is the equally audacious and infamous lie by the Mayor about 
the actual responsibilities in this matter. It was he who: 

• systematically and purposefully exceeded his authority over the management of a municipal 
subsidiary to instruct the plaintiff to organize the funeral; 

• abandoned the principle of legality in administration; 
• disregarded legal responsibilities and the proper channels; and 
• ignored the objection to this approach by the Bezirksregierung, 

all to demonstrate his power to the plaintiff for unjustifiable reasons, humiliate her, and punish her. 
 

The Mayor of the City of Soest, who is also a member of the defendant's supervisory board, delibera-
tely spreads false statements of fact in the defendant's response to the complaint to defame the 
plaintiff. Not only did the Mayor lie to the detriment of the plaintiff in the preparation of the de-
fendant's response, but he also disseminated these infamous lies about the circumstances described 
above in the context of the plaintiff's non-reappointment in Soest's politics to turn them against the 
highly successful plaintiff because, despite his feverish zeal to find something, he had nothing he 
could substantiate against the plaintiff. 



To infer from this that the plaintiff destroyed the basis of trust for cooperation with the Mayor is 
downright absurd. 

So, we establish: 

The Mayor of the City of Soest lied in office to bring about the plaintiff's non-reappointment, and he 
allows the defendant to lie in a court proceeding to prejudice the court against the defendant. 

This demonstrates the extent of shamelessness and a detachment from reality, and it also demonst-
rates the Mayor's fury over the fact that he could not find objectively verifiable material against the 
plaintiff that he could use to advocate for her non-reappointment. In this fury, he was evidently wil-
ling to fabricate - or, more bluntly, to lie about - such circumstances." 

We supplemented this submission with a filing dated July 8, 2021, as follows: 

"Moreover, it is incorrect that the plaintiff contacted the Russian Embassy without prior consultation 
with the Mayor: 

In the summer of 2017, the plaintiff read a book by a historian from which she could conclude that 
there was a high probability of finding war dead during the soil remediation work at the Adam 
Barracks. Nine months before the actual discovery of these bodies, she began to think about what 
she could do to keep the construction site shut down for as short a time as possible. 

Since she still had contact with the International Tracing Service in Bad Arolsen from private family 
research, she initially turned to them. Their response was as follows: 

 
 
From: User Service Department [mailto:research-clients@its-arolsen.org] Sent: Tuesday, June 13, 

2017, 08:31 To: Prof. Dr. Monika Dobberstein monika.dobberstein@gmx.de Subject: Re: Family Kutt-

ner 

Dear Professor Dobberstein, 

If you were to find bodies as part of your project, unfortunately, ITS is not the right point of contact. 
In this case, I can recommend contacting the German Office for the Identification of War Criminals in 
Berlin or the Volksbund Deutsche Kriegsgräberfürsorge e.V. They might be able to assist you. I do not 
have any other ideas. 

Best regards, Bianka Geißler 

She then followed the ITS's recommendation and contacted the German Office for the Identification 
of War Criminals (Deutsche Dienststelle WASt), which in turn, as standard practice, involved the 
Volksbund Deutsche Kriegsgräberfürsorge e.V. On August 18, 2017, she received the following email 
from Wolfgang Held of the Volksbund Deutsche Kriegsgräberfürsorge: 

From: wolfgang.held@volksbund.de Sent: Friday, August 18, 2017, 15:37 To: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., 

Monika m.dobberstein@soest.de Cc: stefan.schmidt@volksbund.de; verena.effgen@volksbund.de 
Subject: Soest - Suspected Soviet Graves in the former Adam Barracks 

Dear Professor Dobberstein, 
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I have become aware of the above-mentioned situation through the regional office. The German 
Office for the Identification of War Criminals had already responded to you. 

For the further course of action: 

1. I will inquire with the Russian Embassy in Berlin if there is any additional information about 
Soviet graves. 

2. I will clarify with the responsible district government in Arnsberg to what extent there can be 
a public interest established for possible search excavations. This also concerns the assump-
tion of costs. 

 

 

33. Ansonsten muss der Abriss abgewartet werden. Sollten Gebeine gefunden werden, ist dieses so-
fort den örtlichen Behörden (u. a. Polizei) zu melden, die Fundstelle zu sichern und der Abriss sofort 
zu stoppen. Wir würden dann unseren erfahrenen Umbetter, Herrn Volker Schneider, aus Meschede 
bitten, sich um alles Weitere zu kümmern.  
 
Mit freundlichen Grüßen  
Wolfgang Held Volksbund  
 
Deutsche Kriegsgräberfürsorge e. V. 
Volksbund Deutsche Kriegsgräberfürsorge e. V.  
Beauftragter des Volksbundes 
für Kriegsgräberfürsorge in NRW 
 
 
Then, on September 29, 2017, the Mayor received a letter from the Russian Embassy requesting him 
to fill out a questionnaire. 

From: bfkg@russische-botschaft.de Sent: Friday, September 29, 2017 11:48 AM To: Post, Post Sub-

ject: The Adam Barracks / Inventory of Soviet War Cemeteries in Soest 

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 

This letter contains a message from Mr. Evgenii Aleshin, Head of the Office for War Graves and Com-
memorative Work at the Embassy of the Russian Federation in Germany, to Dr. Eckhard Ruthemeyer, 
Mayor of the City of Soest, requesting confirmation of the receipt of this letter (preferably via email: 
bfkg@russische-botschaft.de) and the provision of contact details for the responsible case officer(s). 

Kind regards,  

On behalf of Alexandra Owtschinnikowa  

Referentin des Büros für Kriegsgräberfürsorge und Gedenkarbeit Botschaft der Russischen Födera-
tion in Deutschland 

T.: (030) 224-87-580 F.: (030) 229-93-97  

E-mail: bfkg@russische-botschaft.de www.russische-botschaft.de  
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[Attachments included] 

 
I. The initial contact between the Russian Embassy and the City of Soest was made by the embassy 

itself and not through the Klägerin's contact with the embassy. 

II. Subsequently, the Mayor contacted the Klägerin: 

III. On October 2, 2017, at 07:21, Eckhard Ruthemeyer e.ruthemeyer@soest.de wrote: Dear Ms. 
Dobberstein, Please provide information about the process and draft of the response letter. Best 
regards, and I hope you are enjoying your break. Eckhard Ruthemeyer 

IV. The Klägerin complied with the Mayor's request for information and the drafting of a response 
letter. Therefore, the Klägerin did not contact the Embassy of the Russian Federation without 
consultation, as stated in the Klageerwiderung. 

V. As a consequence, the Mayor, in the Klageerwiderung, presents a lie that is particularly grave be-
cause he deliberately and purposefully disseminated this lie to facilitate the non-reappointment 
of the Klägerin. This was done despite his years of fervent efforts to find something incriminating 
against the Klägerin, which he could have used against her. 
 
 

VI. Relocation of Museums to the Attic of Block 3 

In the criminal complaint or criminal request dated August 9, 2021, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein has re-
ported the following defamation under points 2 and 3. These revolve around a conversation between 
the City of Soest Treasurer and Culture Commissioner and Prof. Dr. Dobberstein with representatives 
of the Verein Geschichtswerkstatt frz. Kapelle e.V. The contents of this conversation were subse-
quently sensationalized in the press by the chairwoman of the association, Barbara Köster, in con-
junction with the chairman of the Verein Soester Kulturparlament e.V., Werner Liedmann. 
 
• "She does not seek agreement. This was also a reason for the dispute with the Geschichtswerkstatt 
frz. Kapelle e.V. Here, the plaintiff attempted to push her desired path outward without prior internal 
communication." Page 16 of the counterclaim. 

• "According to the press report dated April 1, 2017, provided in copy as Annex 5, the plaintiff escala-
ted the conflict through public accusations against participants such as the chairwoman of the associ-
ation." Page 8 of the counterclaim. 

• "Rather, the defendant had to ascertain that there had been an unacceptable tone in dealing with 
investors and local institutions such as the Geschichtswerkstatt frz. Kapelle e.V." Page 14 of the coun-
terclaim. 

• "Apparently, the plaintiff did not find the right communication here and, in accordance with the 
counterclaim, escalated the dispute through the press report dated April 1, 2017." Page 5 of the brief 
dated July 2, 2021. 

We would like to provide a chronological account of the entire process and present additional evi-
dence: 
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In the spring of 2016, the City Council passed a purchase resolution for the area of the former Adam 
Barracks. This purchase resolution also stated that the involvement of the then interim users of the 
former barracks should be examined, but there should be no subsidies for this. 

A cost-neutral integration of the Geschichtswerkstatt was not possible. Especially, it was not possible 
based on the purchase resolution to renovate the entire Block 3 for the two museums, Geschichts-
werkstatt and Belgian Museum, which were previously located there. At that time, this would have 
cost an estimated 4.5 million euros, half of the total budget for the overall development of the Adam 
Barracks. Therefore, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein could have taken an easier route and quickly and legally 
terminated the interim lease agreement of the Geschichtswerkstatt Frz. Kapelle e.V., which had a 
short termination notice of 14 days. 

However, as there was considerable bipartisan support for the museums in the City Council, Prof. Dr. 
Dobberstein sought solutions that could give the museums a future without undermining the purch-
ase resolution. She came up with the idea of accommodating them in the unused attic and selling 
Block 3 to the newly founded Wohnbau Soest GmbH, which would then accommodate the affordable 
housing demanded by the politicians in the full floors of the building. This was an initial idea that still 
needed architectural feasibility checks, the acquisition of funding, and approval of funds by the City 
Council. 
 

Barbara Köster, the former chairwoman of the Geschichtswerkstatt Frz. Kapelle e.V., neither could 
nor wanted to understand Prof. Dr. Dobberstein's goal of giving the museums a future. She ignored 
Prof. Dr. Dobberstein for most of the project and communicated only with the Mayor and the Treasu-
rer/Cultural Officer, even on matters where Prof. Dr. Dobberstein, as the managing director of the 
landlord and seller of Block 3, was the sole and primary authority. 

Prof. Dr. Dobberstein discussed her idea of relocating the museums extensively with the top manage-
ment of the City of Soest, the Council's Senior Committee, the WMS supervisory board, and various 
council factions. She reported on these discussions in her post on the Soester Anzeiger's online plat-
form on March 31, 2017: 

"At the meeting, Mr. Wapelhorst, representing the Mayor, and Dr. Wex, the city archivist, also parti-
cipated alongside me. [...] The plans for Block 3 have been communicated to the WMS supervisory 
board and the Senior Committee. In addition, I have visited many factions in recent weeks and 
presented the current plans for the Adam Barracks." 

Only after these discussions was this initial idea presented to the museum representatives. Prof. Dr. 
Dobberstein did not do this alone; it was the Mayor himself who invited them to these discussions. 

Therefore, the assertion that Prof. Dr. Dobberstein did not coordinate with others is false. Instead, 
she consulted with numerous stakeholders and authorities early and comprehensively regarding the 
relocation of the museums from Block 3. It is also a false claim that the relocation of the Geschichts-
werkstatt to the attic of Block 3 was the "desired path" for her. Rather, it was a path that was coordi-
nated with many stakeholders and committees in the City of Soest, making it a joint effort between 
the city and WMS. 

Subsequently, separate initial meetings were scheduled with the representatives of both museums. 
The meeting with the representatives of the Belgian Museum went smoothly, but the initially 
scheduled meeting with the Geschichtswerkstatt was "forgotten" by Barbara Köster. The meeting 
was rescheduled. When the Mayor fell ill at short notice, Peter Wapelhorst, First Deputy Mayor, 
Treasurer, and Cultural Officer of the City of Soest, attended the meeting on his behalf. He also took 



over the lead in the discussions. Barbara Köster did not even acknowledge Prof. Dr. Dobberstein's 
presence as a participant in the meeting and as the managing director of the landlord and seller of 
Block 3. This is evident from an email that Barbara Köster sent to Peter Wapelhorst a week later and 
of which Prof. Dr. Dobberstein only became aware when Peter Wapelhorst brought it to the at-
tention of the Mayor and cc'd Prof. Dr. Dobberstein: 
 
From: Barbara Köster [mailto:abpkoester@t-online.de] Sent: Tuesday, March 28, 2017 07:11 To: Wa-
pelhorst, Peter Subject: Zukunft der Gedenkstätte im Block 3 

Dear Mr. Wapelhorst, One week has passed since your "dire news," during which we have, of course, 
thought intensively about the implications of your decision. We should meet again soon to discuss 
the matter. 

At this point, it is important for us to inform you that we have already shared our perspective on the 
upcoming situation with the political parties in Soest via a letter. Furthermore, we would like to in-
form our funding partners in advance. We have worked very well with the LWL, NRW Foundation, 
State Center for Political Education, and others for more than a decade and enjoyed their trust. 
That's why we believe that information about this existential change for us should be conveyed now. 
I hope you understand this. 

Best regards, Barbara Köster Geschichtswerkstatt Französische Kapelle e.V. 

From: Wapelhorst, Peter p.wapelhorst@soest.de Sent: Tuesday, March 28, 2017 07:59 To: Ruthe-

meyer, Eckhard e.ruthemeyer@soest.de Cc: Wex, Norbert Dr. n.wex@soest.de; Dobberstein Prof. 

Dr., Monika m.dobberstein@soest.de Subject: WG: Zukunft der Gedenkstätte im Block 3 

Good morning Dr. Ruthemeyer, I had already shared my rather reserved assessment of the meeting 
with the representatives of the Geschichtswerkstatt last week. Today, I received confirmation of my 
assessment (unfortunately). 

I will offer to meet with Ms. Köster soon, ask her to provide us with the letter to the factions, and try 
once again to dissuade her from informing the funding providers at this point. For your information. 
Best regards, Peter Wapelhorst 

City of Soest First Deputy Mayor and Treasurer 
 

A similar impression is also conveyed by the minutes of the general meeting of the Soest Cultural Par-
liament on March 29, 2017, in which it is stated as follows: "Ms. Köster reported that she was infor-
med by Mr. Wapelhorst and Mrs. Dobbelstein (Sic!) about a week ago that the Geschichtswerkstatt 
had to vacate its previous premises on the 3rd floor of Block 3." 

Here, too, it becomes evident that in the conversation with Ms. Köster, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein was not 
given due attention, as neither her name, academic titles, nor her role as the managing director of 
the landlord and seller of Block 3 were correctly acknowledged and reported. 

Therefore, the assertion that Prof. Dr. Dobberstein obviously did not find the right communication in 
this conversation is incorrect: 

The conversation was led by Peter Wapelhorst. If the correct address for Ms. Köster was not found, 
this was a shortcoming on the part of the First Deputy Mayor and Culture Commissioner Peter Wa-
pelhorst. However, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein believes that the problem here was not the sender but the 
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recipient: The problem was primarily rooted in the personality of Barbara Köster, who obstinately 
refused to engage in a solution that was both factually and in terms of interests, and whose sole aim 
was to enforce her own entrenched ideas without regard for the interests of the City of Soest and 
WMS as the owner. 

As a means of enforcement, the former chairwoman chose a public "forward defense" and, contrary 
to the urgent request of the First Deputy Mayor, went to the press on March 30, 2017, proactively 
airing her "grievances" with the clear goal of exerting pressure on politics and administration. 

Therefore, the claim that Prof. Dr. Dobberstein tried to impose her desired path externally is an in-
correct statement: 

This formulation insinuates that Prof. Dr. Dobberstein deliberately and strategically went to the press 
to enforce her own desired path. In reality, it was Barbara Köster and Werner Liedmann who delibe-
rately and strategically approached the press to exert public pressure on WMS, the administration, 
and politics with the goal of enforcing their own interests—the path they desired. 

In this context, Anzeiger journalist Astrid Gunnemann called Prof. Dr. Dobberstein, and during this 
telephone conversation, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein explained in detail and in terms understandable to 
laypeople the background of the information that the journalist had already received from Köster 
and Liedmann. Despite the comprehensive explanations, the article authored by Astrid Gunnemann, 
titled "Museums to Be Moved Under the Roof" on March 31, 2017, contained numerous factual er-
rors. Furthermore, the journalist attributed coarse language to Prof. Dr. Dobberstein. In summary, 
the article by Astrid Gunnemann was clearly biased against Prof. Dr. Dobberstein and WMS. Conse-
quently, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein posted a response under the online version of this article to correct 
the factual errors and counteract the damage to her own reputation. The post begins as follows: 
"The Soester Anzeiger has greatly simplified, shortened, and portrayed my interview statements in a 
language that I do not use. Additionally, the article contains real errors." 
 

Therefore, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein did not go public for strategic reasons to "enforce the path she a-
lone wanted," but rather to correct significant factual errors made by the Soester Anzeiger and to de-
fend herself against the coarse language falsely attributed to her by the journalist Gunnemann. Her 
primary goal was to minimize damage to her own reputation. 

However, it is true that this post was not coordinated with the executive management. Nonetheless, 
there was no need for such coordination. Firstly, she was not communicating a change in strategy in 
this post. The communicated "path" had been discussed and agreed upon with the executive ma-
nagement, the Council's Elder Committee, the supervisory board, and many factions. Secondly, the 
article did not attack or misquote members of the executive management but focused solely on her. 
Therefore, she had every right to correct the numerous factual errors and defend herself against the 
negative impression deliberately and strategically created by the Soester Anzeiger through the use of 
coarse language falsely attributed to her. 

While the supervisory board did not criticize the tone or content of this post in the defense state-
ment, nor did they claim that this post escalated the conflict with the Geschichtswerkstatt, the then-
editor-in-chief of the Soester Anzeiger, Holger Strumann, turned this post into a sensational article 
without consulting our client or obtaining her approval. He once again included numerous false quo-
tes and also attributed coarse language to her, violating her copyright on the post from March 31, 
2017. 



This article was published on April 1, 2017, in the print edition under the title "Allemal ausreichend" 
(More than Enough) and in the online edition under the title "Wohnungen werden benötigt, um So-
ester Kasernenblock zu erhalten" (Apartments Needed to Preserve Soest Barracks Block). Through 
the presentation of the article, the Soester Anzeiger gave the unmistakable but false impression that 
our client had given an interview to the reporter Strumann. 

In response, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein immediately posted a follow-up under this article. She introduced 
this post with the following explanation: 

"Regrettably, the Soester Anzeiger keeps attributing statements to me that do not correspond to my 
manner of speaking, nor do I think in this way. For example, this time I did not say, 'that the space is 
more than enough,' nor did I say, 'that I would be content with a breakeven result.' Likewise, in my 
previous post, I did not say, 'that money needs to flow into the coffers.'" 

The post concludes by restating the original post from which the article was derived. It was publicly 
evident, and thus also apparent to the supervisory board of WMS, that Prof. Dr. Dobberstein did not 
say or write what the Soester Anzeiger attributed to her, and that the supposed interview in the ar-
ticle – without authorization, mind you – was derived from our client's original post from March 31, 
2017. It was also publicly evident, and thus also apparent to the supervisory board of WMS, that the 
inappropriate tone did not originate from Prof. Dr. Dobberstein but was deliberately attributed to 
her by Holger Strumann to damage her reputation. 
 

However, according to the supervisory board's own submissions in the defense statement, the non-
renewal of Prof. Dr. Dobberstein's contract was justified by the argument that the aforementioned 
article from the Soester Anzeiger dated April 1, 2017, displayed an inappropriate tone on the part of 
our client and escalated the "Geschichtswerkstatt Frz. Kapelle" issue. Furthermore, this – incidentally 
poorly concocted – narrative was reproduced in the defense statement. 

On page 99 of the rejoinder dated June 15, 2021, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein once again pointed out that 
the newspaper article from April 1, 2017, constituted a violation of her copyright, and she reiterated 
that she did not grant an interview to the journalist Strumann. As evidence, she provided a letter to 
Holger Strumann in which she expressed her criticism of the April 1, 2017, article as follows: 

"Above all: If you transform a nuanced text of mine into a simplified one, you need my approval to do 
so. Otherwise, it's a copyright violation! And don't tell me I don't understand your job! In your in-
dustry, it is absolutely common to obtain approval for using texts! 

In terms of content, this article is truly audacious! 

It begins with the headline. The quotation marks in combination with my photo leave no doubt that I 
said or wrote these things. Yet, you put words in my mouth! 

Particularly problematic is the fact that you transformed my sentence 'Eine Zusammenarbeit mit der 
Bürgerstiftung könnte im Übrigen auch eine Option für den Verein 'frz. Kapelle' darstellen, wenn dort 
einmal die heutigen Protagonisten aus Altersgründen ausscheiden' into 'Die Bürgerstiftung könnte 
womöglich auch die Arbeit von Köster und ihren Mitstreitern übernehmen, wenn die heutigen Prota-
gonisten aus Altersgründen ausscheiden.' I mentioned collaboration, not takeover. 

In particular, this sentence contributed to stirring up sentiment against me to the extent that three 
letters to the editor were written subsequently. In this regard, you share some responsibility for the 
letters to the editor, although I must admit that Mrs. Köster probably contributed to this 



interpretation because the interpretation that I am waiting for Mrs. Köster to die is absurd in your 
version as well. At least Mr. Etter and Ms. Radermacher, who fell for this misinterpretation, are part 
of Mrs. Köster's immediate circle. 

The article is riddled with other inaccuracies in language. For example, I did not say that I am content 
with a breakeven result, but that I am fighting for it. 

Furthermore, you completely omit in the article that the Geschichtswerkstatt currently occupies di-
sastrous premises, and that by moving to the attic, they would receive long-term secured, fully deve-
loped facilities with heating, water, and fire protection. However, this was my main point" (see page 
259 of the rejoinder dated June 15, 2021, in response to the defense statement). 

Despite this, the supervisory board repeated in the submission dated July 2, 2021, that Prof. Dr. Dob-
berstein escalated the conflict with the Geschichtswerkstatt through the article dated April 1, 2017 
(page 5 of the submission dated July 2, 2021). 
 

 
VII. The performance record is inaccurate 

We filed a criminal complaint, among other things, because of the assertion made for the first time in 
the submission dated April 22, 2021: 

"To the extent that the plaintiff wishes to have its major successes included in the balancing of inte-
rests according to its 'performance record,' we have already explained that this performance record 
is not accurate." Page 23 of the submission dated April 22, 2021. 

We have already explained and argued that this statement constitutes a deliberate and defamatory 
assertion of false facts, which was also made to bias the court against our client. Consequently, this 
statement fulfills both the elements of defamation and process fraud. 

However, we consider it necessary to extensively demonstrate that the justifications on which the 
supervisory board based the aforementioned assertion are, to a large extent, false factual claims. 
Furthermore, the false assertion in question, "the plaintiff's performance record is not accurate," 
does not even contain evaluative elements. 

On page 23 of the defense statement dated April 22, 2021, the supervisory board argues: "...we have 
already explained that this performance record is not accurate." Reference is made to the de-
fendant's explanations on page 14 of the defense statement, where the defendant extensively 
addresses the plaintiff's performance record. In this context, we have included page 14 of the de-
fense statement in the present submission and highlighted in red the false factual claims made in this 
section of the defense statement: 



 

 



 
Here are the false factual claims made in the given text, along with explanations: 

1. The text claims that the plaintiff (your client) criticized the city's prepared cost-effectiveness 
calculation for the Adam Barracks and alleged significant errors without prior discussion with 
the mayor, leading to a discussion in the supervisory board about why these supposed errors 
were not raised in advance. 

It is stated that this is a false assertion because your client did not merely allege errors but 
highlighted actual significant errors in the cost-effectiveness analysis, which was not pre-
pared by the city but by WMS and NRW-Urban under Ferdinand Griewel. The errors are 
described as follows: 

• Omission of side streets, resulting in a negative impact on both cost and revenue si-
des of the project, leading to an error of approximately €2,600,000. 

• Underestimation of demolition costs by more than 81%, with an error of €783,000. 
• Refusal by the Municipal Utility Company Soest (KBS) to reimburse the item "Cost 

Reimbursement Land Sales per KAG" in the predecessor's calculation, leading to an 
error of €567,000. 

The KBS's refusal was explained by the claim that the area was already previously developed 
(for the barracks) and, therefore, a second development was unnecessary. This was consi-
dered absurd, and it is suggested that there may have been an intentional effort to push the 
Adam Barracks project's results into the negative, blame it on your client, and force her out 
of office. Additionally, the sale of properties to the city's residential construction company 
below their production costs is mentioned as part of the same agenda. 
Furthermore, the text highlights that the purchase agreement did not regulate the BImA's 
participation in the actual existing contamination cleanup as calculated in the cost-effec-
tiveness analysis of the acquisition decision. This is attributed to a lack of an initial environ-
mental assessment or demolition expert report, leading to an error of €457,000. 

 

The statement "Es wurden negative Ergebnisse prognostiziert" (Negative results were forecasted) is 
also a false factual claim. It is falsely implied that these negative forecasts were merely asserted by 
your client, suggesting that they were manipulated to discredit her predecessor and the mayor. 

In reality, these forecasts were based on updated and reliable data obtained during the progress of 
the Adam Barracks project. New information, such as expert opinions, actual contracts, invoices, and 
cost estimates from planning firms, was regularly integrated into the projections. These estimates 
were subjected to a standard industry practice safety margin of 10%. In fact, the last projection was 
approximately 70% higher than the cost estimate from the acquisition decision's cost-effectiveness 
analysis, indicating that the 10% safety margin was a conservative estimate. Despite this, the mayor 
repeatedly criticized this safety margin, even though it was consistent with the cost-effectiveness 
analysis in the acquisition decision. 

It's important to note that these calculations were carried out by NRW-Urban, based on actual figu-
res from WMS, and continuously updated based on current cost estimates. Contrary to the insinua-
tion in the mentioned statement, your client's negative forecasts were made in a professional and 
well-founded manner, using standard practices in the real estate industry. 

It was only in February 2020 that your client was able to turn the projections into a positive outcome, 
primarily due to significant transactions such as the sale of Block 3. This ultimately led to a positive 
financial outcome for the project. The WMS's financial auditor, Ruth Beerbaum, verified this final 
projection. 



In summary, the assertion that the negative forecasts made in January and March 2018 were merely 
speculative is incorrect; they were based on realistic assessments of the project's financial outlook. 

 

• The statement "Zu berücksichtigen ist an dieser Stelle auch, dass die Stadt Soest geringere 
qm-Preise gezahlt hatte, als auf dem Markt durchsetzbar war, um in der Vermarktung bessere Erlöse 
zu erzielen. Dies ist kein Verdienst, der der Klägerin zuzuweisen ist" is also a false factual claim. 

• It is falsely implied that your client's successes in the Adam Barracks project were solely due 
to the good work of her predecessor. Additionally, it is asserted that the cost-effectiveness analysis, 
which served as the basis for negotiations between the predecessor of your client and the mayor 
with the BImA (Federal Agency for Real Estate), assumed very low selling prices for the completed 
plots, resulting in a correspondingly low purchase price. 

• However, the claim that the barracks were acquired at a low cost is incorrect and appears to 
be a self-serving narrative by the mayor. Firstly, the aforementioned errors in the project were so sig-
nificant that they would have more than compensated for any low assumptions in selling prices. 
Furthermore, the assertion that the selling prices used in the cost-effectiveness analysis, on which 
negotiations with the BImA were based, were low and below market prices is inaccurate. 

• At the time of negotiations with the BImA (end of 2015), the ground value reference points 
(Bodenrichtwerte) in the vicinity of the Adam Barracks ranged between €130 and €145 per square 
meter. 

  
 
 
The statement "Was die Immobilien-Leistungsbilanz der Klägerin angeht, hat sie bei der Entwicklung 
des Belgischen Viertels sicherlich Erfolge erzielt. Zu berücksichtigen ist indes auch die gute Marktlage, 
die es ermöglicht, entsprechende Erfolge zu erzielen" does acknowledge the favorable market condi-
tions at the time. However, it creates the unmistakable impression that your client's outstanding 
achievements came about automatically due to the favorable market conditions or that projects 
were successful on their own accord. It is inaccurate to use the favorable market conditions as a basis 
to downplay or claim that your client's performance record is inaccurate. 

It has been repeatedly demonstrated that projects can only be implemented during good times in 
the real estate market. 



Your client has worked in the real estate industry for decades, primarily in project development. Ex-
perience from multiple real estate cycles has taught her that there is usually only a brief window of 
opportunity, often just two or three years, to implement projects before they abruptly go into a dor-
mant phase for an average of almost a decade. 

She has experienced firsthand how a real estate boom can collapse overnight, and this not only thre-
atened the companies she worked for but also her own livelihood: 

• In 2000, she was involved in the sale of the former Volkstheater property opposite Friedrich-
straße station in Berlin and was also instrumental in the purchase of the Reeperbahn 1 pro-
perty in Hamburg in 2001. Both projects came to a halt when the real estate market collap-
sed at the end of 2001. Both projects were only completed in the next cycle, in the mid-
2010s. 

• In 2001, her then-employer, a mid-sized project developer, together with Hamburger Landes-
bank, purchased the Landesentwicklungsgesellschaft Schleswig-Holstein with 18,000 apart-
ments. The plan was to finance the company through a capital increase in the MDax, which 
was a tremendous effort for a relatively small company. Investment bankers had thoroughly 
examined the company, disrupting operations for months, and then required expensive com-
pensation. However, the capital increase failed when, on the penultimate day of the 
bookbuilding phase, the DAX plummeted below 4,000 points due to the events of September 
11th, making stocks no longer collateralizable, causing all insurance companies and pension 
funds to withdraw their offers. Several hundred million DM had to be financed differently. 

• She started as a proxy in the investment team of Jones Lang LaSalle on July 1, 2007. At that 
time, there was a party atmosphere in the German real estate market. International inves-
tors began investing extensively in the German market for the first time in the years starting 
in 2005. Transaction volumes and real estate prices in the segments purchased by these in-
vestors had increased by a factor of 2-3. Even the investment team at JLL in Germany doub-
led in size during this period. 

Just three days after her employment began, the research department announced that interest rates 
were now higher than yields. The party was over. Neither Jones Lang LaSalle nor any others conduc-
ted a single transaction thereafter. Four weeks later, the subprime crisis began, 14 months later, 
Lehman Brothers went bankrupt, and the publicly traded JLL in the United States no longer had an 
investment team. 
Prof. Dr. Dobberstein learned from her experience that, especially during good times, every day 
counts, and as a result, she looks for solutions extremely quickly and pragmatically, with a strong 
focus on implementation. That's why she worked excessively in Soest. She operated under the as-
sumption that a crash in the real estate market could occur at any time: 

When she took office as Managing Director of WMS on September 1, 2016, the market situation still 
appeared to be a "normal" real estate boom. She had experienced such booms three times in her ur-
ban planning career, which had been ongoing since 1987, from 1990 to 1992 (special economic boom 
in the East), from 1998 to 2001 (New Economy), and from 2005 to 2007 (banking liberalization). Each 
of these boom phases lasted only three years, and real estate price growth rates ranged from one to 
three percent. The last boom began in 2013. If it had followed the pattern of previous booms, there 
was a constant risk of a market collapse from the moment she took office. 

She communicated this concern on several occasions, for example, during the first Supervisory Board 
meeting on September 28, 2016. 



 

 
 

On March 8th, she wrote to the mayor: 

"I would like to emphasize once again that I currently consider a crash in the financial market to be 
the biggest risk for the project. Interest rates are rising, and yields continue to fall. At some point, 
these two curves will intersect, and then there will be no real estate market activity for a long time. 
This will also affect the Adam-Kaserne project, just as it did the Ardey area in 2007. That's why I want 
to conclude the project as quickly as possible. You want the houses to be built as soon as possible, 
and I want the land revenue in WMS's account as soon as possible. This is not contradictory - we both 
want to advance the project as quickly as possible." 

And to the mediator, Rüssel, she wrote shortly before the Supervisory Board meeting on March 19, 
2018: 

"I'm physically completely exhausted. Since taking office, I've been working every evening, every 
weekend, without a vacation. That worked very well because I was very happy and grateful for the 
job. It was actually my dream job, for which I fought so hard and had already earned. I'm doing a 
great job, and the city is fortunate, given the size of this project, to have found someone like me who 
has real estate expertise and can think in terms of contracts and balance sheets. That's very unusual 
for an economic development position. I work so hard because I also want the project to be comple-
ted quickly because I'm waiting for the financial market crash every day. That's why he [referring to 
the mayor] was initially very impressed. Now, however, I have the impression that my legs are being 
swept out from under me at full speed. I'm not sleeping anymore, and I can't work like this." 

During the Supervisory Board meeting on March 22, 2018, she informed the Supervisory Board as 
follows: 



 

 
 

 
Our client worked excessively because she knew that especially the Adam Barracks project would 
have faced massive problems if the real estate and financial markets had collapsed. And she won the 
race against time: She achieved the readiness for construction and purchase price maturity for the 
Adam Barracks only 30 months after the transfer of ownership in March 2019 and for the Wasserfuhr 
industrial area in May 2020. 

Today, in retrospect, we know that this was not a "normal" real estate cycle but one artificially crea-
ted by central bank low-interest policies. The boom lasted for 10 years, and real estate prices 
reached double-digit growth rates in recent years. This made it by far the longest and highest boom 
since the post-war economic miracle years. 
 

 
 
In the second quarter of 2022, however, the market collapsed due to interrupted or disrupted supply 
chains and rapidly rising interest rates. 



But despite the prolonged boom, there are still numerous projects in Soest that have not been imple-
mented - even though they had the same market conditions as the projects carried out by our client, 
some of them even started before our client took office, and there was even two years more time to 
successfully complete them. Among the Soest projects that have not magically developed themselves 
despite the excellent market conditions are: 

• Relocation of the Stadtwerke to Werkstraße  

• Hilchenbach • Thomaehöfe • Merkurhöfe ´ 

• Coca Cola  

• Süd-Caree: Corner of Arnsberger Straße / Lübecker Ring • Werkstraße (Acconci / Baumgarten)  

• Blocks 4, 5, and 7 of the Adam Barracks  

• Social housing in the Adam Barracks • Strabag 

These projects are expected to face significant problems under the current prevailing market conditi-
ons. Some projects have already been explicitly canceled or suspended due to the price development 
of construction costs and interest rates. For instance, the Stadtwerke, which had acquired a property 
before our client took office to relocate their headquarters to Werkstraße - a top-tier prestige project 
- canceled it due to rising construction costs and interest rates. The "Merkurhöfe" project, which has 
been ongoing since 2014, has suspended its next construction phase due to the poor market situa-
tion. 

While it is true that the good market conditions made our client's successes possible, this fact does 
not diminish her exceptional achievements and successes. Her excessive dedication and hard work 
allowed her to implement projects at such a high speed that she managed to capitalize on the oppor-
tunities presented by this favorable market condition in an outstanding manner. As a result, she also 
saved the city of Soest from losses in the millions that were already inherent due to the many mista-
kes made during the purchase of the Adam Barracks area. Many other project developers, including 
those in Soest, did not achieve or consider such consistently high implementation speed - to the 
great detriment of their projects. 

It should now be clear to the WMS supervisory board that projects do not develop themselves during 
good market phases. Despite the market continuing to boom for two more years after our client's 
departure, the WMS projects could not be further developed or completed during these years. 

 

In the spring of 2021, our client aimed to commence the renovation work on the Strabag site and 
achieve construction readiness/ purchase price maturity by the summer of 2022. To this end, she had 
already begun discussions with potential buyers who were interested in acquiring the entire area af-
ter construction readiness. However, as of today, renovation work has not even commenced, and 
there does not seem to be a buyer for the property. 

For Blocks 4, 5, and 7 of the Adam Barracks, there has been no progress in getting the buyer to start 
construction, nor has a third party been found to purchase the properties from the original buyer. 
The final development of the Adam Barracks, scheduled for 2022, has not yet begun, and the buyer 
families are living amidst dust and debris, awaiting the creation of green and recreational areas. 



In the Wasserfuhr industrial area, no further plots have been sold, construction obligations have not 
been enforced, and the land for the expansion of the intermunicipal industrial area has not been ac-
quired. 

The good market conditions indeed made the development of these projects possible, which is undis-
puted. However, they did not turn into self-sustaining or self-developing projects. 

Once again, it should be emphasized that projects can only be developed during good market phases, 
which is empirically supported by research in the real estate industry. The Adam Barracks lay dor-
mant for 30 years precisely because there was no market phase during that time when developing 
the project would have been profitable. The performance of a project developer lies in seizing short 
time windows and, within those narrow time frames, acting wisely, being willing to take risks, de-
monstrating courage, and negotiating effectively. This is precisely what our client accomplished in an 
exceptional manner: 

Adam Barracks:  

• Approximately €2 million in additional revenue was generated from just 5 plots. And these were 
not simply market prices; the conditions were actively altered:  

• Block 1: €250,000 - By skillfully incorporating it into a package with Block 7 o Block 2: 
€300,000 - By securing the approval for the "extension" (which was actually larger than the 
main building) from the LWL  

• Block 3: €670,000 - By not selling to Wohnbau Soest GmbH or the investor Candycorn  

• Block 7: €250,000 - By not demolishing but selling the existing structure  

• Einszueins: €530,000 - By personally reaching out to every developer and architect from Pa-
derborn to Dortmund, thus finding a highly capable buyer  

• Saved €2.4 million in costs:  

• Saved €134,000 in property transfer tax - By negotiating with the tax office to rectify an un-
fortunate clause in the Adam Barracks purchase agreement  

• Saved €116,000 in interest - By developing the areas so rapidly and, notably, collecting all 
purchase prices so quickly that the WMS could repay the loan so swiftly, resulting in only 
€24,000 in interest expenses from the originally calculated €140,000.  

• Saved €657,000 in project management fees - By taking on project development/project ma-
nagement herself. Beyond the fee saved, this step is worth much more, as the working me-
thods of an external project manager would have extended the development time by several 
years, jeopardizing the additional revenue of €6.1 million.  

• Saved €1.5 million - By preventing the reversal of the Candycorn contracts and securing the 
payment of the purchase price guarantees when Candycorn failed to pay the purchase prices 
due in the summer of 2019. 

Wasserfuhr 



• €1.16 million in additional revenue from land sales 
 
Large sections of the industrial and commercial area were sold by our client for €70/sqm (32% above 
market value, €53/sqm) - thanks to her audacity and unwavering negotiation skills. 

• €261,000 saved in project development fees 
 
Wasserfuhr was also developed and managed by WMS itself. 

 

Strabag 

• €420,000 in additional grant funds through the inclusion of the Bitunova area 

After the Strabag hall fire, our client managed to terminate the long-term, non-ter-
minable lease agreement with Bitunova, allowing the lease area to be included in the 
contaminated site remediation by the AAV. 

• Savings of €90,000 in new connection costs for Bitunova 

The dissolution of the Bitunova contract also eliminated the need for the company to be 
reconnected to the infrastructure, saving €90,000 in costs. 

The office building on the site was successfully leased to the Künstlerhaus BEM Adam 
e.V., eliminating any renovation costs for the ground. 

• The additional costs incurred for the demolition of the so-called "Jahrhunderthalle" due 
to the fire amounted to approximately €130,000. Initially, the insurance offered 
€200,000 but eventually paid €701,000, which is €570,000 more, thanks to my negotia-
tion skills. 
 

• The good market phase provided the backdrop against which our client excelled. However, it 
was the following factors that turned her promise of successful property development into an unde-
niable success story: 

• The excessive dedication of our client. • Her exceptionally fast implementation speed. • 
Her ability to reliably identify and capitalize on market opportunities. • The decision not 
to outsource development work. • Her willingness to take substantial risks (e.g., parallel 
road planning during the zoning plan process, a deliberate "quick and dirty" approach). • 
Extensive knowledge of the real estate industry. • Our client's strong negotiation skills. 

• The assertion that "Regarding the plaintiff's real estate performance, she certainly achie-
ved success in the development of the Belgian Quarter. However, it should be noted that 
the favorable market conditions allowed for such success" is therefore inadmissible and 
not suitable for undermining our client's achievements. It certainly does not permit the 
false claim that the performance record is inaccurate. 

• Furthermore, the statement "In addition, the plaintiff's performance record shows that 
she cannot provide corresponding services in the area of classical economic develop-
ment. This concerns contacts with local businesses and associations. The plaintiff's 



performance record contains nothing about this. Classical economic development, which 
is important, is not represented by the plaintiff" is a false statement. 

• In a subsequent document, it was added: "However, from the plaintiff's own perfor-
mance record, it is clear that she did not prioritize this area and, for her, the real estate 
industry clearly takes precedence." 

 

• Firstly, it is a false claim that our client's performance record contains nothing related to 
classical economic development. The statement "Classical economic development, which 
is important, is not represented by the plaintiff" is inaccurate. In fact, she has achieved 
much in the field of classical economic development and has even expanded the scope of 
this business area. She has reported on her activities in this regard in her performance 
record: 
 
"While the classical tasks of economic development may not have been in the public 
spotlight, we have still fulfilled these tasks: 

• The most important task of any economic development agency is to assist with land 
acquisition. 

• Creation of new land in the Wasserfuhr industrial and commercial area. • 6 plots 
already brokered to DHL, Promed, Madeia, Fuisting, Solo Lighting, Soester Bau. • 
Brokerage of land on Volmarsteiner Weg to Gerpol and XL-Garagen. • Brokerage 
of land north of the Also-Halle on Opmünder Weg to Münstermann and Höcker 
Generalunternehmung. • Numerous brokerage attempts for the land south of the 
Also-Halle, but difficult without access roads. • Regular brokerage of retail and 
office space, most recently to "Mit Liebe unverpackt" and the IG Metall Hamm-
Lippstadt. 

• Support for Start-ups • The WMS was recently recertified as a starter center. • Consulta-
tions in the past year: 332 initial consultations, 20 advisory meetings, 9 business start-
ups. • Regular start-up seminars. 

• Regular networking with entrepreneurs. • Inaugural visits to key companies at the end of 
2016 (Kuchenmeister, Also, Legrand, Eaton, Hai, Enercon, Kvernerland, Magna, Lin-
denstruth, etc.). • General business breakfast in October 2017. • Business breakfast on 
the topic of "Digital Model Municipality" in cooperation with Mr. Radandt in July 2018. • 
Company visits in connection with the survey on commercial land requirements in March 
2019 (e.g., Magna, Schrage). • Two business surveys conducted within the framework of 
the District Government's commercial and industrial land concept. • Survey of compa-
nies for the provision of fiber-optic lines for the district economic development funding 
application. 

• Representation of the interests of economic development in the following committees, 
projects, institutions: 

• Climate Impact Concept  

• Climate Pact  



• EEA European Energy Award  

• Retail Laboratory  

• Citylab (Chamber of Commerce): Conducting focus group discussions, IT security 
workshop (10/20), scenario discussions.  

• City Laboratory (Digital Model Municipality)  

• Digital Center for Medium-Sized Cities: as a shareholder.  

• Member of various associations: Dehoga, vsw." 

The assertion that our client has not contributed to classical economic development is a false state-
ment. 
 

• Lastly, it is also a false claim that our client did not prioritize classical economic development 
and instead focused primarily on real estate. In fact, we have previously argued as follows in our sub-
mission dated January 2, 2022: 

• This is also a false statement. The truth is that the shift from a focus on classical economic 
development to land development was made by the supervisory board and city council themselves. 
The properties for the two major projects, "Adam-Kaserne" and "Strabag," were acquired before 
Prof. Dr. Dobberstein took office. 

• Additionally, the supervisory board fails to mention that it did not want to provide additional 
personnel to support the business area of classical economic development, and the only employee in 
this field also handled land development. The supervisory board rejected an application from the SPD 
related to the financial planning for 2020 to create an additional position in classical economic deve-
lopment. Therefore, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein had no capacity to accomplish more in classical economic 
development, especially as she was already heavily involved in land development. 

• Furthermore, the supervisory board neglects to mention that even under the condition that 
the business activities of WMS increased five to sixfold in terms of revenue and balance sheet size 
(revenue increased from €2-3 million to €15.6 million, with approximately 80% of the business being 
land development) during our client's tenure, the business area of classical economic development 
also grew. For example, WMS took over start-up advice from the district economic development 
agency since they ceased their advisory services for start-ups. 

• Moreover, all business areas grew during Prof. Dr. Dobberstein's tenure: 

• The second-largest business area of WMS was the management of the Stadthalle (revenue 
€1.4–1.8 million), where Prof. Dr. Dobberstein not only handled day-to-day operations but also suc-
cessfully implemented change and turnaround management in her short time in office, almost enti-
rely revamping the Stadthalle. 

• The third major business area was inner-city large events (budget approximately €1 million). 
In this field, Prof. Dr. Dobberstein conceptualized and established two new events (Winterstrahlen 
and ProBierBar), expanded the Christmas market around the Domplatz (by approximately 25%, clo-
sing the loop for gastronomy and retail), and took over the two weekly markets. 



• Furthermore, WMS is responsible for the administration and rental of the railway station 
building. Two major retail and office lease agreements were concluded during Prof. Dr. Dobberstein's 
tenure. Additionally, the "City Marketing/Tourist Information" area is larger than the field of classical 
economic development. 

• The growth of WMS's business activities by more than five to six times was not at the ex-
pense of other business areas, including classical economic development. On the contrary, all busi-
ness areas, including classical economic development, experienced growth, and the increase in busi-
ness activity at WMS was solely due to Prof. Dr. Dobberstein's extreme dedication and effort, work-
ing seven days a week from morning to night and with almost no vacation. 

• Demanding that Prof. Dr. Dobberstein should have provided equivalent performance in clas-
sical economic development as in land development is at the very least inappropriate, if not unethi-
cal. This would have required her to increase WMS's activities tenfold without additional personnel, 
while she was already working seven days a week from morning to night and with almost no vaca-
tion. Furthermore, the supervisory board never demanded that land development be postponed to 
expand networking activities with Soest companies. In fact, the supervisory board was very inte-
rested in the timely completion of land development projects. It is worth recalling the mayor's anger 
when the completion of the Adam-Kaserne had to be delayed by just two months for valid reasons. 
 

• Claiming that our client could have been re-elected if she had achieved more in "classical 
economic development" is also not plausible. In fact, neither the mayor nor the supervisory board 
was particularly interested in classical economic development. 

o Our client had regular appointments with the mayor every 4-6 weeks, but these meetings 
always took place in a tripartite setting with the head of the city planning department, and 
later with the building commissioner. The format of these meetings was such that our client 
regularly joined an ongoing discussion with the head of the city planning department/buil-
ding commissioner; even after the tripartite discussions ended, there were no additional 
time slots for our client to discuss topics other than city planning with the mayor. When the 
position of building commissioner was created, the mayor wanted to leave discussions with 
our client entirely to the building commissioner. She had to fight long and hard to ensure 
that the mayor would at least participate in these discussions again. 
 

o The mayor's response in the defense (page 7) reads as follows: 
 

o "Due to the interconnection of urban development and economic development issues, the 
mayor conducted regular departmental meetings with the plaintiff from the beginning. Af-
ter the department of urban development changed hands in mid-2018, these appointments 
were conducted by the new Technical Deputy Mayor, Mr. Abel. The mayor also explicitly 
offered the plaintiff short-term telephone appointments and regular personal consultations 
with him. There was certainly no obligation for him, as the legal representative of the 
shareholder, to do so." 

o Therefore, the mayor only discussed urban development topics with our client. The other 
topics of WMS – classical economic development, the Stadthalle, large inner-city events, 
city marketing, and the train station – were not of interest to him. Appointments related to 
these areas of WMS were arranged only when there was an urgent issue (e.g., Stadthalle 
report, the "hoarding" storage of food in the Stadthalle kitchen, resulting in a health risk for 



customers). 
 

o On July 3, 2022, our client sent an email to the WMS supervisory board listing the perfor-
mance record of WMS since her departure on July 3, 2020. In this email, it is stated: 
 

o "Nevertheless, the business area of classical economic development also grew. This was 
only possible because I succeeded in arranging for Ricarda Frede from WMS to move to 
Schlachthof. 
 

Ricarda Frede held a bachelor's degree in a marketing program. Therefore, she was hardly 
suitable for WMS beyond SoestArt, especially not in classical economic development, 
where additional capacity was urgently needed. Her transfer created space for classical eco-
nomic development. 

With isa Storm, I was then able to fill this position with a relevant background. Lisa Storm 
holds a master's degree in city and regional development management and came from the 
Economic Development Agency of the Ruhr area. 

Now, Lisa Storm has apparently been replaced by Claudia Schmidt." 

 

 
 
The position was correctly advertised as a classical economic development position (entrepreneurial 
advice, funding advice, maintaining contacts with companies, intercommunal cooperation, location 
consulting, and settlement promotion, providing guidance through the city administration, etc.). In 
particular, knowledge of planning and building regulations was required to support land develop-
ment. 

However, the position was filled with someone who had no relevant experience. Claudia Schmidt has 
worked in marketing and event management for breweries throughout her career (first for Warstei-
ner, then for Veltins). She has no experience in classical economic development and likely does not 



have a relevant academic background. This is a step backward and a significant, long-term weakening 
of classical economic development – something that is supposedly important to you. 

Another missed opportunity occurred with the appointment to the newly created position for pro-
moting the city center. This position was also not filled with someone who had relevant experience. 
Isabella Zacharias is a certified event management specialist, trained at the Stadthalle – and we all 
know that apprentices there, before my time, were mainly involved in ticket sales. She then worked 
at the company "Auf den Punkt," renting technical equipment for events. She also has no experience 
in classical economic development, especially in reducing vacancy in the city center (facilitating fun-
ding, advising startups, advising prospective tenants on building regulations, connecting with rele-
vant real estate agents, etc.). 

Except for Dirk Göttlicher, there are now only marketing and event management professionals in the 
entire WMS. Dirk Göttlicher is often rejected by entrepreneurs, repeatedly with similar reasons, sta-
ting that he doesn't even remotely understand what the respective entrepreneur is aiming for. 

You should be honest and rename the "Wirtschaft und Marketing Soest GmbH" to "Marketing and 
Event Management Soest GmbH." 

In case the supervisory board wants to claim that the strengthening was accomplished by the new 
managing director herself, attention is drawn to a newspaper interview with her successor in Werne. 

 

 

In the interview, he states: "This, according to Stiller, is due to two reasons: first, after the citizen re-
ferendum on the Regional Cooperation Site, there is no clear direction regarding the societal and po-
litical decision to designate further areas for commercial use. Second, in the case of new commercial 
areas being designated, the planning process and infrastructure development would take years. 
These two factors create uncertainties in the development planning for local businesses. 'What we 



need is a new economic development policy in this city to provide clarity for businesses,' Stiller says. 
Members of the Committee for Urban Development, Planning, and Economy also share this view. As 
per the committee's decision, Stiller will now prepare a proposal for the next steps." 

Carolin Brautlecht served as the head of the Office for Economic Development in Werne for about 12 
years. However, it appears that during her tenure, she failed to initiate the timely development of 
new commercial areas. 

In contrast, our client acted proactively and implementation-oriented for the benefit of the city of 
Soest. When she arrived in Soest, there were no more commercial areas available. However, she not 
only initiated the development of new commercial areas but actively took this development into her 
own hands. The development of new areas for industry and commerce is the pinnacle of what the 
supervisory board of WMS often referred to as "Classical Economic Development." She purchased 
farmland and developed it into an industrial and commercial area. Just 42 months after taking office, 
the industrial and commercial area "Wasserfuhr I" was completed, and the plots were largely sold. 

• In contrast, in Werne, it appears that Frau Brautlecht's successor is currently working on de-
veloping a plan to designate new commercial areas. As a result, the city of Werne will have to 
go without new commercial areas for many more years. 

• The assertion that "Classical economic development, which is crucial, is not represented by 
the plaintiff" and that this was one of the reasons for her non-reappointment is, therefore, 
an inaccurate statement in multiple respects: • Our client has extensively listed topics rela-
ted to classical economic development in her performance record. • Classical economic de-
velopment was not and is not of significant importance to either the mayor or the supervi-
sory board. • The emphasis on land development during our client's tenure was strategically 
established by the supervisory board through the acquisition of major urban development 
projects before her appointment. • Our client has indeed represented the field of classical 
economic development, and it even saw growth compared to her predecessor. • The rapid 
development of the "Wasserfuhr I" commercial and industrial area, one of the three major 
land development projects during our client's tenure, was a central project within classical 
economic development. • Alleged deficiencies in the area of classical economic development 
were not the actual reason for her non-reappointment but rather a fabricated pretext. 
 

• The following statement is incorrect: "The plaintiff did not discuss this with the mayor in advance, 
so it became a topic of discussion in the supervisory board as to why the plaintiff did not address 
these alleged mistakes beforehand." 

• This pertains to three supervisory board meetings in summary: 

1. During the supervisory board meeting on November 11, 2016, our client reported to the super-
visory board about the error of the "forgotten" side streets. This occurred within the context of 
presenting the results of a market and location analysis conducted by F+B. The primary focus 
of this discussion was the fact that, among other issues, this error had resulted in a reduction 
in the number of residential units, causing the planned ratio of single-family homes to multi-
family homes and subsidized to non-subsidized housing to become disproportionate. 



 

  

 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 

2. During the supervisory board meeting on January 17, 2018, our client presented an updated 
negative forecast of -1.2 million euros. However, she did not reiterate the embarrassing 
mistake of the forgotten side streets, which had been particularly embarrassing for her prede-
cessor, during this meeting. 
 

 
 



  

  

 



  

  

  



  

 
 

3. During the supervisory board meeting on March 22, 2018, our client provided an updated fore-
cast indicating a deficit of -1.5 million euros. 

 
 



 
 

 
 

4.  
Today, our client cannot verify from her records whether she 
had reported the error of the forgotten side streets to the 
mayor before the meeting on November 11, 2016. However, 
this is also due to the fact that the mayor did not conduct 
any pre-meetings with our client before supervisory board 
meetings. He even had the WMS state (submission dated 
April 22, 2021, p.7) that he was not obligated as the legal re-
presentative of the shareholders to have personal discus-
sions with our client. Therefore, he cannot complain if he 
was not informed about the "forgotten" side streets before 
the supervisory board meeting on November 11, 2016. 

In this supervisory board meeting, our client mentioned the error of the "forgotten side streets," but 
made it a secondary issue, deliberately not emphasizing it and sparing her predecessor and the ma-
yor as much as possible, without violating her obligation to inform the supervisory board. 

However, the mayor was thoroughly briefed on both negative forecasts from January and March 
2018 before the respective supervisory board meetings. 

From: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 11:04 AM To: Ruthemeyer, 
Eckhard e.ruthemeyer@soest.de; Jochem, Martin zuckerberg.beratung@googlemail.com Cc: 
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Wennemers, Regina r.wennemers@soest.de; Wapelhorst, Peter p.wapelhorst@soest.de Subject: Su-
pervisory Board Meeting Priority: High 

Dear Mr. Ruthemeyer, Dear Mr. Jochem, 

I have attempted to clarify on short notice with Mrs. Wennemers, our tax advisor Mr. Duffe, and the 
auditor Mrs. Beerbaum whether a change to the business forecast for the Adam Barracks requires an 
amendment to the business plan and therefore resolutions in the supervisory board, finance commit-
tee, and council. 

Here are the facts for now: 

 
Das Defizit wird hauptsächlich ausgelöst durch die Fehleinschätzung der Abriss- und Entsor-

gungskosten. Diese Kosten muss ich Ende Januar auslösen, weil wir maximal bis Mitte März ab-

reißen dürfen. Beauftrage ich nicht Ende Januar, verschiebt sich die Entwicklung der südlichen 

Fläche um ein Jahr. Damit wären auch alle Projektentwickler und Investoren weg. 

 

Im Erfolgsplan passiert in diesem Jahr zunächst einmal nichts, was eine Änderung des Finanz-

planes notwendig machte. Die Abrisskosten müssen ca. 6 Monate durchfinanziert werden bis 

die Kaufpreiserlöse kommen, d.h. gut 10.000 € - also unterhalb der Schwelle 50.000 €, bei der 

ein Nachtrag zum Wirtschaftsplan notwendig wird. 

 

Liquiditätswirksam wird der Verlust erst, wenn wir in ein paar Jahren den Endausbau der Stra-

ßen machen müssen und dann kein Geld mehr da ist. Ein neuer Kredit kann dann aus keinen 

Einnahmen mehr zurückgezahlt werden. 

 

Im Vermögensplan passiert folgendes: 

 

Die Abriss- und Entsorgungskosten werden aktiviert, d.h. erhöhen das Vermögen. Das ist auch 

richtig, denn das leere Grundstück ist sicher mehr wert, als das Grundstück mit den alten Ge-

bäuden und Straßen.  

 

Am Ende des Jahres fließen die Kaufpreise. Gleichzeitig muss der Wert der Grundstücke aber 

aus der Aktiv-Seite ausgebucht werden. Bisher haben wir das immer so gemacht, dass die 

Grundstücke in Höhe des Kaufpreises ausgebucht werden. So wurde ein Gewinn oder Verlust 

erst am Ende des Projektes sichtbar. 

 

Nun wissen wir aber schon, dass ein Verlust entstehen wird. Das bedeutet, dass das Grundstück 

mit einem zu hohen Wert in unseren Büchern steht und noch in diesem Jahr eine Wertberichti-

gung des Grundstückswertes vorgenommen werden muss. Das kann man sich so vorstellen, 

dass ein zu hoher Grundstückspreis gezahlt wurde, weil zu geringe Abrisskosten wertmindernd 

angesetzt wurden. Der Grundstückswert wurde im Vermögensplan aber in der Höhe des Grund-

stückspreises eingestellt. Das muss nun korrigiert werden. 

 

Soweit ist das alles unstrittig. Nun gibt es aber eine Grauzone: Wertberichtigt wird erst, wenn 

die Fakten feststehen! Deshalb muss hier diskutiert werden, ob die Fakten heute schon festste-

hen oder erst am Ende des Jahres: 
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Die Grundstückspreise legen wir heute Abend fest und die Preise mit den Investoren sind bereits 

ausgehandelt. Deshalb werden wir hier keine höheren Preise mehr erzielen. Die Grundstücke 

für Bauträger werden im Höchstpreisverfahren versteigert, so dass wir die Erlöse noch nicht 

kennen, aber selbst wenn wir deutlich höhere Preise erzielen als erwartet, spielen die 5 Grund-

stücke nicht die Rolle, dass sie die 1,2 Mio. € Verlust ausgleichen könnten.  

 

Die Abriss- und Entsorgungskosten beruhen derzeit auf einer Schätzung des Altlastengutach-

ters. Ob die geschätzten Entsorgungsmengen am Ende tatsächlich so hoch sind wie erwartet, 

können wir erst sagen, nachdem wir abgerissen haben. 

 

Es gibt noch Spielräume: 

 

Wir subventionieren derzeit die Grundstücke der Wohnungsgesellschaft: für die Neubauten 

zahlt sie 150 statt 220 €/m² und für den Block III 64 statt 170 €/m². Das macht ungefähr 

620.000 € aus. 

 

Wir haben noch keinen Erschließungsvertrag, aber Herr Mackenroth und Herr Funke haben uns 

bereits mitgeteilt, dass wir alle Erschließungseinrichtungen herstellen müssen und diese dann 

der Stadt schenken müssen. Würde die Stadt z.B. 10 % des Straßenbaus und der Freiflächen be-

zahlen – wie das bei stadteigenen Erschließungsmaßnahmen üblich ist -, dann würde dies ca. 

300.000 € ausmachen. 

 

Die WMS bezahlt auch den Fußweg entlang der Clevischen Straße. Der ist nicht durch die Revi-

talisierung der Adam-Kaserne ausgelöst und müsste von der Stadt eigentlich allein getragen 

werden. 

 

Es gibt derzeit noch eine Risikoposition in Höhe von 600.000 € (10 % der Herstellungskosten) im 

der Wirtschaftlichkeitsanalyse. Derzeit ist es zu früh, die aufzulösen, weil wir ja noch keine Kos-

tensicherheit haben, aber vielleicht reicht diese Position am Ende des Projektes doch aus. 

 

Vor diesem Hintergrund könnte man entscheiden, sich den Ratsbeschluss erst am Ende des Jah-

res zu holen. Dagegen spricht aber, dass es dann kaum noch eine Steuerungsmöglichkeit gibt. 

Die Kostenüberschreitung ist dann ausgelöst, die Wertberichtigung nur ein technischer Vor-

gang. Dann kann der Rat allenfalls noch entscheiden, die WMS in die Insolvenz gehen zu lassen. 

 

Realistisch wird niemand auf die Idee kommen, das Projekt zu stoppen. Bei einem Gesamtin-

vestment in Höhe von 13,8 Mio. € reden wir bei 1,2 Mio. € Abweichung gerade einmal von 8 %. 

Und ein Abbruch des Projektes würde ja erst recht Schwierigkeiten auslösen, denn faktisch ist 

der Verlust schon eingetreten: bei den Kaufpreisverhandlungen hätte ein höherer Betrag für die 

Abriss- und Entsorgungskosten in Abzug gebracht werden müssen. Jeder potentielle Käufer des 

Grundstückes hätte heute von den Kosten Kenntnis und würde sie vom Kaufpreis abziehen. Es 

handelt sich derzeit also um ein rein formelles Problem: darf ich die Abrisskosten ohne einen 

Ratsbeschluss auslösen? 

 

Für heute Abend würde ich erst einmal vorschlagen, dass ich versuche, mir einen Vorratsbe-

schluss zu holen und wir das Thema anschließend ausführlich diskutieren: 

 

„Für den Fall, dass ein Beschluss über einen Nachtrag zum Wirtschaftsplan erforderlich ist, 



empfiehlt der Aufsichtsrat dem Rat bzw. der Gesellschafterversammlung, den Vermögensplan 

um 1,2 Mio. € zu erhöhen.“ 

Mit freundlichen Grüßen Prof. Dr. Monika Dobberstein Geschäftsführerin 

In the minutes of the January meeting and in our client's presentation materials for this supervisory 
board meeting, it is even noted that there were preliminary discussions with the mayor's staff (Re-
gina Wennemers), the auditor, and the tax advisor. The error regarding the forgotten side streets had 
been known for 14 or 17 months at this point. 

Therefore, it is a false assertion that our client did not inform the mayor in advance of supervisory 
board meetings about the impending negative forecast results. 

The error of the "forgotten side streets" was only a side note in the November 2016 supervisory 
board meeting. The mayor must take responsibility for not being informed about it because he did 
not offer our client a prior discussion (as mentioned above). 

• Lastly, it is also a false assertion that a conflict with the supervisory board arose because my client 
did not inform the mayor in advance about the errors and negative forecast results. 

None of the minutes of the three relevant supervisory board meetings – despite comprehensive 
documentation of all statements – mention even in the slightest that our client was criticized for not 
having informed the mayor in advance about the allegedly asserted errors. In the November 2016 
meeting, Anneliese Richter (Bündnis 90/Die Grünen) and Thomas Howe (Junges Soest) actually prai-
sed our client explicitly for her transparency and emphasized that they had long wished for this level 
of transparency. 

Three months later, after a STEA committee meeting, when our client had the impression that com-
mittee members were confused about many things, she provided structured updates on the latest 
developments to the faction leaders (Meiberg, Maibaum, Kappelhoff, Wiggerich, and Hagenkötter) 
via email, specifically regarding the updated net building land area. She received the following 
responses, among others: 

From: roland.maibaum@t-online.de 

Sent: Sunday, February 12, 2017 6:09 PM To: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika m.dobberstein@soest.de 

Cc: sandra wulf.soest@gmx.de Subject: Re: Economic Analysis of Adam Barracks Dear Dr. Dobber-
stein, 

Thank you very much for the important improvement in the information, which is groundbreaking 
due to your clarity. 

We will gladly take up your kind offer of a faction visit. 

Best regards, Roland Maibaum 

From: Kappelhoff kappelhoff@hagengoebel.de Sent: Monday, February 13, 2017 9:39 AM To: Dob-

berstein Prof. Dr., Monika m.dobberstein@soest.de Subject: Re: Economic Analysis of Adam Barracks 

Dear Dr. Dobberstein, Firstly, I would like to thank you for taking the time on a Sunday afternoon to 
summarize the essential facts and your proposals for possible uses in the email. Especially new for 
me at this point was the presentation of the actual building areas. 
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Ferner teile ich ihre Auffassung bezüglich der geförderten Wohnungen. 

Allerdings steht –nach meiner Erinnerung- in dem entsprechenden Ratsbeschluss nichts von ge-

förderten Wohnungen oder Sozialwohnungen. 

Sollte eine städtische Tochtergesellschaft oder deren Tochter auf dem Gelände aktiv werden, so 

ist der Maßstab –nach meiner Erinnerung-,  preiswerter Wohnraum. 

Hinsichtlich der erzielbaren Preise war mir ebenfalls klar, dass dieser Wert von ihrem Vorgänger 

deutlich optimistischer kommuniziert wurde als er sich in der Realität darstellt. 

Hinsichtlich der Nutzung des Block 3 wird sicherlich noch einiger Gesprächsbedarf bleiben, ins-

besondere auch um probate Lösungen zu akzeptablen Kosten zu finden. 

I thank you once again and wish you continued success in your discussions. 

Best regards, Dipl.-Ing. A. Kappelhoff 

In the 2018 budget speech of the FDP, our client was mentioned as follows: 

"Dr. Monika Dobberstein, as Managing Director of WMS, has done very good work with her team. In 
a pleasantly short time, the Belgian Quarter conversion project was developed, developed, and lar-
gely marketed. After initial concerns, the project has been turned into an economic success. Finally, 
businesses can settle in Soest again after many years of not having adequate land available." 

Indeed, there was no conflict with the supervisory board. On the contrary, large parts of the (supervi-
sory) board were explicitly grateful for her transparency and recognized her achievements. 

However, there was a conflict with the mayor: 

This conflict did not arise because my client did not communicate the error regarding the "forgotten" 
side streets to him before the supervisory board meeting in November 2016. The conflict escalated 
after the supervisory board meeting in January 2018, a time when the error regarding the "forgot-
ten" side streets had already been known for 14 months. So, the fact that my client might not have 
reported this error to the mayor before the supervisory board meeting in November 2016 was not 
the trigger for this conflict. 

The trigger for the conflict was rather that after the supervisory board meeting in January 2018, for 
the benefit of the City of Soest group and to protect the mayor's reputation, she proposed solutions 
on how to avoid the impending write-down while the mayor was unable to understand what my cli-
ent was trying to explain. It was only from this point onwards that the mayor consistently attacked 
her publicly and behind the scenes. 

The nature and extent of these attacks have already been described in the legal dispute before the 
Arnsberg District Court (reply to the counterclaim, p. 14 ff): "Moreover, when the client mentioned 
the impending write-down to the mayor in the last week of February, he reacted angrily and accused 
the client of wanting to shift her losses to "his budget." This view surprised the client because a 
write-down of the property price would have led to a loss for WMS that the city would have had to 
compensate. The loss would have automatically been included in the city's budget, in the "own" 
budget of the mayor. 

In the same conversation, the head of the city planning department casually asked whether the com-
pletion of the Adam Barracks was still projected for October. The client replied that there was cur-
rently no new projection, but she hadn't heard anything to the contrary either. The mayor, still angry, 



repeatedly insisted on whether the client could guarantee the October completion date. The client 
stuck to her initial statement several times, saying that she currently had no new projection, but she 
hadn't heard anything to the contrary either. 

After the meeting with the mayor, the client instructed her employee Göttlicher to discuss whether 
the October projection could still be met with the planners. Three days later, the employee con-
cluded that it was likely that the October projection could not be met. Against the backdrop of the 
marketing of the properties at the House and Garden Fair (HAGA), which was scheduled to start two 
days later, the client decided to inform the buyers that the completion date was not October 2018 
but early 2019, to prevent them from planning incorrectly and triggering any claims for damages. 
Since the mayor was in a retreat, she informed him of this by email. 

In the following days, an email exchange ensued in which the client continued to try to persuade the 
mayor to consider the solution for the write-down requirement through the development agree-
ment. However, the mayor reacted emotionally, was not prepared for a constructive, factual discus-
sion, and responded with ritual, humiliating demonstrations of power: • Although the client's emails 
were factual and even conciliatory in tone, the mayor claimed, "The chosen wording in the attemp-
ted justification is unacceptable. This will have to be discussed. This cannot continue." He did not ar-
gue on the merits. 

• Because of the completion projection for the Adam Barracks postponed by two months, he with-
drew his trust from the client: "destroys the necessary trust for a reliable cooperation." The client in-
terpreted this rather technical formulation as an attempt by the mayor to initiate her dismissal and 
removal for good cause and looked for reasons. 

On the substance, the accusation against the client was baseless and bordering on the absurd: 

The client's predecessor had planned the development of the Adam Barracks for 10 years, an absolu-
tely common and realistic timeframe. The dispute with the client took place 17 months after the 
transfer of ownership of the barracks, and the completion projection was extended from 25 to 27 
months. Thus, despite the delay, the development time would be less than 1/4 of the time predicted 
by the predecessor. This was sensational and only possible because the client worked 7 days a week 
from waking up to going to bed since taking office. 

The projected completion date was also just a loose internal projection, in other words, a working 
hypothesis, and by no means a target agreement. The date had never been communicated exter-
nally, so there could be no image loss due to the delay of 2 months." 

 

• Immediately after the dispute over the correction of the completion projection, the mayor 
forced the client to organize a funeral for the Soviet war dead discovered on the Adam 
Barracks site in February 2018. The client did not consider this to be her responsibility be-
cause if the bodies had been discovered in Lieschen Müller's garden, the city would not have 
left it to Lieschen Müller to organize such a ceremony. The client perceived this, especially 
given the close temporal connection, as a punitive action for the mayor's dissatisfaction with 
the delay in the completion projection of the Adam Barracks and the objectively necessary 
write-down. 

• In a Sunday morning email sent before 8:00 am, the mayor even demanded that the client 
submit a concept for the funeral ceremony coordinated with the Russian embassy by 
Monday at 12:00 pm. Apart from the fact that the mayor was not authorized to give the cli-
ent instructions, this deadline pressure was not necessary in the least. In fact, the funeral did 



not take place until after the client's departure because the Russian embassy initially wanted 
to ascertain the identity of the deceased. 

• The client also received instructions from the lowest-ranking employee in the finance depart-
ment on what and how she should report to the supervisory board in the future. 

Proof: Attachment K19.02: Correspondence between the client and the mayor, specifically the email 
correspondence from March 3rd and 4th, 2018 

The client considered the dispute very serious due to the obvious emotionality of the mayor and the 
chosen wording. Therefore, she sought mediation with a mediator, who, however, expressed her be-
lief that a personality like the mayor was not suitable for mediation. 

Proof: Attachment 19.03: Email from the client - Request for assistance to mediator Dr. Ulrike Rüssel 

She also appealed for mediation with the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Martin Jochem, which 
immediately proved to be a serious mistake because Martin Jochem is a personal confidant of the 
mayor. He sided with the mayor and further escalated the conflict. 

The conflict continued in the supervisory board meeting at the end of March 2018. Prior to the mee-
ting, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Jochem, had expressed his displeasure to the client that 
allegedly no progress could be seen at the Adam Barracks. However, this claim by the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board, Jochem, was unfounded: 

In the four weeks leading up to the supervisory board meeting, there were indeed rapid develop-
ments in the project. Completed were, for example, the zoning plan draft for the second public con-
sultation, the approval planning for the streets, the design manual, and the marketing materials for 
the private plots. Two demolition companies were active on the construction site, and the demolition 
of more than 20 halls and a listed barracks block was in full swing. 

In February, the client had also reached an agreement with the Federal Agency for Real Estate (BImA) 
that they would vacate and hand over the halls they were using four years ahead of the contractually 
agreed date. The client even achieved the immediate implementation of the agreement, so demoli-
tion could begin on the last day of February. This was necessary because after that, the protected 
nesting period for bats on the barracks site would begin, and the demolition would have been 
delayed by 9 months if the halls were handed over later. Additionally, the soil remediation was com-
pleted. 

As expected based on historical reports, 19 Soviet war dead were found during this process (see 
above). The client had prepared for this find and the reburial of these war dead with the War Graves 
Commission, the police, the prosecutor's office, an undertaker, the cemetery administration, and the 
Russian embassy so well that the construction site had to be shut down for less than 24 hours. 

Lastly, the marketing of the private plots had just started with a two-day trade fair appearance at the 
House and Garden Fair (HAGA), and the purchase contract for Blocks 4 and 5 had been concluded. 

The client countered the accusation of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board by presenting the afo-
rementioned development progress using an Outlook calendar in the supervisory board meeting. In 
response, the mayor became angry and argued that he also did not provide his schedule. Further-
more, he expressed his annoyance again about the completion projection being delayed by two mon-
ths. 



The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Jochem, also criticized the client for allegedly not having al-
ready put out the tender for the detailed design of the streets. He also believed that these works had 
to be tendered throughout Europe, leading to further months of delay. However, this latter claim 
was uninformed and ultimately incorrect, as the projected fees for the engineers remained below the 
thresholds for a European tender, and there were no time capacities available for the tender due to 
the small staff of WMS, considering the other tasks described. 

Proof: Minutes of the Supervisory Board meeting on March 22, 2018, in the possession of the de-
fendant, which should be submitted as evidence. 

 
However, while the mayor and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board complained on the one hand 
that the development of the barracks was allegedly too slow - even though it was actually progres-
sing exceptionally quickly - the client heard, on the other hand, how the mayor and the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board whispered to each other that the start of marketing the plots had taken place 
much too early - less than 9 months before the planned handover date. This, too, was an absurd, 
pretextual accusation. This became evident no later than in 2020 when the city started marketing its 
own building area in the north of the city 15 months before the planned completion date. It was not 
about the "development of the Adam Barracks" for the mayor and the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board. 

Proof: Attachment K38: Start of Marketing and Completion of the Northern Building Area 

 

 
The plaintiff rather gained the impression that there was a deliberate search for reasons to target 
and remove her, all against the backdrop of an objectively sensational rapid development of a con-
version area, which was, in fact, a significant success story. 

Therefore, the plaintiff is convinced that the hostile attitude of the Mayor and the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board in this supervisory board meeting was not based on the plaintiff's performance 
but on her person, which they wanted to "get rid of." 

In addition to the previous presentation, it should be added that regarding the impending write-
down, the Mayor, in the supervisory board meeting on March 22, 2018, finally proposed financing 
the impending write-down with a loan and promised generous subsidies from the city. 

The minutes state the following: 
 



 

 

 

The Mayor's proposal to finance the write-down with a loan was, of course, nonsensical: 

1. Banks do not finance deficits. They require collateral and a plausible explanation of how the 
repayment will be made. The development of the Adam-Kaserne project envisaged a com-
plete sale of the properties at the end of the project. A deficit of €1.5 million was forecasted 
for the sale. Therefore, there were neither securities nor revenues from which the loan could 
have been repaid. No bank would have increased the loan for the Adam-Kaserne by the 
amount of a projected deficit. 

2. Write-downs are reflected in the income statement (profit and loss statement) in the ex-
pense section. They, therefore, generate a deficit. The city is obliged to compensate for defi-
cits incurred by the WMS. However, during the meeting, the Mayor gave the impression that 
the city had the choice of providing a subsidy or not. 
 
Even if the WMS could have obtained a loan, it would have been nonsense to take one out in 
2018. The cash flow impact of the deficit would only have occurred upon the completion of 
road construction, at the earliest in 2022. Borrowing money from the bank in 2018 would not 
have made any sense. 
 
Several weeks later, around mid to late April 2018 (the exact date is no longer 
reconstructable), the plaintiff received a call from Regina Wennemers, the Head of Finance at 
the City of Soest. She explained to the plaintiff that the finance department had now also 
come to the realization that the plaintiff's proposal regarding the development contract was 
a good one and that they now wanted to go down that path. The plaintiff explained that it 
was too late for that; the development contract had already gone through the responsible 
committees and been finalized. 
 

Even if WMS could have obtained a loan, it would have been nonsensical to take one out in 
2018. The cash flow impact of the deficit would only have occurred upon the completion of 
road construction, at the earliest in 2022. Therefore, borrowing money from the bank in 



2018 would not have made any sense. 
 

3. Several weeks later, approximately in mid to late April 2018 (the exact date is no longer 
reconstructable), the plaintiff received a call from Regina Wennemers, the Head of Finance at 
the City of Soest. She explained to the plaintiff that the finance department had now also 
come to the realization that the plaintiff's proposal regarding the development contract was 
a good one and that they now wanted to go down that path. The plaintiff explained that it 
was too late for that; the development contract had already gone through the responsible 
committees and been finalized. 

 

Einige Monate später, als die Klägerin nach einer Ratssitzung mit der Zeugin Wennemers das Restau-

rant Lamäng besuchte, räumte diese sinngemäß ein, dass damals die Emotionalität des Bürgermeis-

ters dem Lösungsvorschlag der Klägerin entgegengestanden hätte.“ 

In conclusion, it should be noted that our client responded to the impending property value adjust-
ment with a constructive, knowledgeable, and creative proposal for the benefit of the city and the 
protection of the mayor's reputation. 

Despite the mayor having a background in law, experience as a treasurer, and nearly 20 years of ex-
perience as a mayor at that time, it is apparent that he understood very little about accounting regu-
lations and their economic and financial consequences. He misunderstood our client's proposal as an 
attack on "his" budget and, as a result, reacted emotionally rather than addressing the issue on its 
merits. He attempted to ritually humiliate our client, for instance, by forcing her to organize the fune-
ral of the Soviet soldiers and having her receive instructions from the lowest-ranking employee in the 
finance department. 

The property value adjustment was eventually averted because, over the course of 2018, our client 
managed to secure some sensational purchase agreements related to the barracks blocks on the 
Adam Barracks, which led to a projection of a break-even result." 

At this point, let's reintroduce the email correspondence between our client and, among others, the 
mayor, which unfolded between the supervisory board meetings in January and March 2018 regar-
ding the "Property Value Adjustment at Adam Barracks" issue. This correspondence highlights how 
consistently our client made factual solution proposals and how consistently the mayor rejected 
these proposals for non-substantive reasons. 

 

Am 22.02.2018 um 18:12 schrieb Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika <m.dobberstein@soest.de>: 

Sehr geehrte Herren, 

 

wir haben noch ein echtes Problem mit dem Erschließungsvertrag: 

 

Ich muss unterschreiben, dass die Finanzierung der Erschließung sichergestellt ist. Das kann ich nicht, 

weil der WMS nach heutiger Prognose 2021 das Geld dafür ausgeht. 

 

Soweit ich das einschätzen kann, kann ich mir aber heute noch keine Erhöhung des Finanzplanes für 

2021 genehmigen lassen, oder? 

 

Die Lösung könnte vielleicht sein, dass im Erschließungsvertrag die Stadt versichert, dass – sollte die 

WMS ausfallen – sie selbst die restlichen Arbeiten der Erschließung übernimmt. Das ist zweifellos schi-

zophren, weil der Erschließungsvertrag ja gerade sicherstellen soll, dass der  Erschließungsträger die 
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Finanzierung sicherstellt und meine Lösung im Prinzip lautet: die WMS macht es, wenn sie Geld hat, 

wenn nicht, macht es doch die Stadt. 

 

Aber wir müssen den Erschließungsvertrag machen, weil er Bestandteil jedes Kaufvertrages wird und 

wir kein Grundstück verkaufen können, wenn für den Käufer nicht sichergestellt werden kann, dass 

die Erschließung des Grundstückes (inklusive Endausbau) erfolgt. 

 

Darüber hinaus sollten Sie zumindest einmal darüber nachdenken, wo im Konzern die Verluste entste-

hen sollen. Zwar ist es richtig, dass normalerweise der Erschließungsträger sämtliche Kosten über-

nimmt und die Erschließungsanlagen kostenlos an die Stadt überträgt. Aber wir sind ja auch kein nor-

maler Projektentwickler mit Gewinnerzielungsabsicht, sondern reparieren Stadt mit einer negativen 

wirtschaftlichen Prognose. Und es gibt auch keine Rechtsvorschrift, die die kostenlose Übertrag vor-

schreibt. 

 

Zudem habe ich gestern gelernt, dass wir der Stadt die Schlussrechnungen nicht wegen einer mögli-

chen Gewährleistungsfrist übereignen sollen, sondern damit die Stadt weiß, mit welchem Vermögens-

wert sie die Anlagen in ihre Bilanz einstellt. Die Anlagen haben also einen echten Wert für die Stadt, 

warum sollte Sie dafür nicht einen kleinen Preis zahlen (10 % des Wertes wie in stadteigenen Gebie-

ten)? 

 

Wir bauen zudem einige Anlagen, die nicht durch unser Projekt ausgelöst werden. Neben dem Fuß-

weg an der Clevischen Straße hat uns die Stadt gestern gebeten, auch noch eine Stück Straße außer-

halb des Plangebietes zu errichten. Für beides könnte legitimiert werden, dass die Stadt die Kosten 

selbst übernimmt. 

 

Insgesamt könnte die Stadt folgende Kosten übernehmen: 

• Fußweg entlang der Clevischen Straße (Kosten ca. 100.000 €). 

• Fortsetzung einer Feuerwehrstraße außerhalb des Plangebietes (noch nicht geschätzt) 

• 10 % aller Erschließungskosten für das Projekt (ca. 300.000 €). 

 

Mit freundlichen Grüßen 

 

Prof. Dr. Monika Dobberstein 

Geschäftsführerin 

 

Von: Ruthemeyer, Eckhard  

Gesendet: Freitag, 23. Februar 2018 10:44 

An: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika 

Betreff: Re: Erschließungsvertrag 

 

Sehr geehrte Frau Dobberstein. 

 

1. Der Erschließungsvertrag wird in seinen Eckpunkten nicht verändert. 

 

2. Die vereinbarte Kostenzuordnung ist sachgerecht und ausgewogen. 

 

Schließlich übernimmt die Stadt erhebliche Kosten, die durch das Projekt ausgelöst werden und nicht 



das Projektkonto der WMS belasten. 

 

3. Da wir als Konzern Stadt Soest letztlich gemeinsam die Finanzverantwortung tragen, kann im Er-

schließungsvertrag auf eine diesbezügliche Regelung verzichtet werden. 

 

Das ist mit Herrn Mackenroth so abgestimmt. 

 

Aus meiner Sicht sind damit die von Ihnen aufgezeigten Probleme gelöst. 

 

Mit freundlichen Grüßen 

Eckhard Ruthemeyer 

 

Von meinem iPad gesendet 

 

Am 01.03.2018 um 10:26 schrieb Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika <m.dobberstein@soest.de>: 

Guten Morgen Herr Ruthemeyer, 

ich möchte doch noch einmal auf die Kostenverteilung im Erschließungsvertrag zurückkommen, denn 

es geht nicht nur darum, wo die Kosten entstehen, sondern auch wann. 

Ich versuche es noch einmal von den Folgen her zu erklären: 

Wenn alles so weiterläuft, wie gerade prognostiziert, dann haben wir Ende des Jahres alle Grundstü-

cke verkauft, die Kosten für den Abriss stehen dann fest und auch die Erschließungskosten, mit Aus-

nahme des Straßenausbaus sind mindestens beauftragt. Dann steht fest, dass wir 2022 nicht ausrei-

chend Geld für den Straßenausbau haben. Dann wird die Wirtschaftsprüferin im Jahresabschluss die 

Wertberichtigung des Grundstückes um den dann prognostizierten Fehlbetrag verlangen. Diese Wert-

berichtigung läuft nicht nur durch den Finanzplan, sondern auch durch den Wirtschaftsplan, d.h. die 

Stadt wird bereits Anfang nächsten Jahres gezwungen sein, den Fehlbetrag auszugleichen. Die WMS 

würde die Zahlung dann als Rückstellung für den Straßenbau 2022 einstellen. 

Bei der Wertberichtigung des Grundstückes würde die Politik vermutlich auch den Ankaufspreis noch 

einmal hinterfragen. Hier noch einmal die beiden Fehleinschätzung während der Kaufpreisverhand-

lungen: 

• Fehleinschätzung der Abriss- und Entsorgungskosten: 1,1 Mio. €. 

• Vergessen der Nebenstraßen, d.h. 6.500 m² Straße können zum einen nicht als Grundstücke ver-
kauft werden (Schaden: 1,3 Mio. €) und müssen zusätzlich gebaut werden (Schaden ebenfalls 1,3 
Mio. €), d.h. dieser Fehler kostet 2,6 Mio. €, weil die Schere hier in beide Richtung (Kosten und 
Einnahmen) aufgeht. 

Mit der vorgeschlagenen Kostenverteilung können ungefähr 450.000 € von 2019 ins Jahr 2022 ge-

schoben werden und im Projekt als Einnahme verbucht werden. Die Wertberichtigung würde im Jah-

resabschluss zumindest deutlich geringer ausfallen. Dabei handelt es sich auch nicht einfach nur um 

einen Trick, es gibt wirklich gute Gründe, warum die Stadt einen Teil der Erschließungskosten über-

nimmt, zumal sie die Infrastruktur ja mit einem erheblichen Wert in ihre Bilanz einstellen wird. 

Mit freundlichen Grüßen 

Prof. Dr. Monika Dobberstein 

Geschäftsführerin 
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Sehr geehrte Frau Dobberstein.  

Die Entscheidung zum weiteren Vorgehen habe ich Ihnen mitgeteilt. Dabei bleibt es.  

Die gewählte Formulierung im Rahmen der versuchten Begründung ist inakzeptabel.  

 

Darüber wird zu sprechen sein  

So geht das nicht weiter! 

Herzliche Grüße  

Eckhard Ruthemeyer  

 

 

Am 03.03.2018 um 18:08 schrieb Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika <m.dobberstein@soest.de>: 

Sehr geehrter Herr Ruthemeyer,  

Sie haben gestern sehr deutlich gemacht, dass Sie sich über mich ärgern. Erlauben Sie mir auszudrü-

cken, dass auch ich mich an der einen oder anderen Stelle ärgere: 

Es ist selbstverständlich, dass ich mich darum kümmere, dass die sowjetischen Toten von der Bau-

stelle auf den Friedhof verbracht werden. Ich halte es aber nicht für die Aufgabe der WMS, ein 

„Staatsbegräbnis“ für die Kriegstoten mit der russischen Botschaft zu organisieren. Wären die Toten 

im Garten von Lieschen Müller gefunden worden, würde man das auch nicht Lieschen Müller überlas-

sen.  Es geht im Wesentlichen darum, dass bei der Trauerfeier Honoratioren der Stadt anwesend sind, 

viele kenne ich nicht und zu den meisten habe ich keinen Kontakt, so dass wir einen hohen Aufwand 

haben werden, uns einzuarbeiten. Auch die russische Botschaft sieht ausschließlich Sie als Bürger-

meister als Ansprechpartner und korrespondiert nur mit Ihnen. 

 

Seitdem ich vor 18 Monaten bei der WMS angefangen habe, habe ich nahezu keine Freizeit. Ich ar-

beite jeden Abend und jedes Wochenende und die wenigen Urlaubstage, die ich bisher hatte, waren 

nur eine Verlegung des Arbeitsortes. Ich habe mich darüber nie beschwert und werde das auch nicht 

tun. Das ist der Preis dafür, dass wir aus einem für 7-10 Jahren angesetzten Projekt, ein Projekt ma-

chen, dass wahrscheinlich nur etwas mehr als 2 Jahre laufen wird. Diesen Preis bin ich bereit zu be-

zahlen. Auch meine Lebensgefährtin akzeptiert ihn, denn sie kommt aus dem internationalen Transak-

tionsgeschäft und kennt solche Arbeitszeiten. 

 

Es bedeutet aber, dass ich keinerlei zusätzliche Zeitkapazitäten aktivieren kann, um zusätzliche Aufga-

ben zu übernehmen. Und auch meine Mitarbeiter arbeiten bereits über der Grenze, die der TVöD er-

laubt. Wenn ich nun ein Begräbnis organisiere, dann bleiben weitere, wichtige Aufgaben liegen. 

Sie haben sehr deutlich gemacht, dass Sie sich ärgern, weil ich angeblich immer wieder Aufgaben der 

WMS versuche auf die Stadt zu verlagern und mich aufgefordert, diese Aufgaben selbst zu überneh-

men. Auch als ich Herrn Steinbicker und Herrn Mackenroth gebeten habe, dass sie wie an der 

Werkstraße die Erschließungsarbeiten übernehmen, ist mir klar signalisiert worden: mein Projekt, 

meine Straßen, mein Problem! 

 

Mir nun vorzuwerfen, dass Herr Griewel so geschickt war, die Werkstraße nicht selbst zu bauen, emp-

finde ich als unfair. 

 

Im Übrigen ist es nicht zu spät, das zu ändern, ganz im Gegenteil. Die Entwurfs- und Genehmigungs-

planung ist gerade abgeschossen und wir sind dabei, die Ingenieure für die Ausführungsplanung und 
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Erstellung der Ausschreibungsunterlagen zu suchen. Gerade jetzt könnte Herr Mackenroth ohne Infor-

mationsverlust übernehmen. 

 

Herr Göttlicher hätte dann endlich Zeit, sich auch um den Opmünder Weg und Strabag zu kümmern, 

die beide im Moment liegen bleiben. 

Die Aussage, die Herr Wapelhorst Ihnen gegenüber offenbar gemacht hat, dass ich mich Control-

linganalysen mit der Begründung verweigert hätte, ich hätte keine Zeit, ist falsch oder zumindest aus 

dem Zusammenhang gerissen. Ich habe mich einer nach meinem Dafürhalten unsinnigen Forderung 

verweigert: 

 

Herr Wapelhorst und sein Team hatten mich aufgefordert, die Abriss- und Entsorgungskosten nach 

den einzelnen Bauwerken aufzusplitten. So sind aber die Angebote nicht gestalten, auf deren Basis wir 

beauftragt haben. Diese kennen gerade bei den Entsorgungskosten nur Massen von individuellen 

Stoffgruppen und weisen nicht mehr aus, zu welchen Prozentsätzen diese aus welchen Bauwerken 

stammen. Herr Göttlicher hätte also in Zusammenarbeit mit den Abrissunternehmen Schätzungen er-

arbeiten müssen, sofern diese dazu überhaupt bereit gewesen wären. Aber wozu? Selbst wenn das 

funktioniert hätte, wäre daraus keine Steuerungsmöglichkeit erwachsen. Man hätte allenfalls die 

Frage beantworten können, bei welchem Gebäude bzw. welcher versiegelten Flächen Herr Griewel 

und sein Team sich damals verschätzt haben. Zur Klärung dieser redundanten Frage wollte ich keine 

Zeitkapazitäten von Herrn Göttlicher opfern. Viel wichtiger ist derzeit das Nachtragsmanagement. 

Dort hat er echte Steuerungsmöglichkeiten. 

 

Ich habe Herrn Wapelhorst und seinem Team aber sämtliche beauftragten Angebote zur Verfügung 

gestellt. Sie haben also die Möglichkeit, sich die Zahlen selbst aufzubereiten, wenn sie die oben ge-

nannte Frage beantworten möchten. 

Außerdem habe ich mich noch folgendem verweigert: 

Weil damals die Abrisskosten offenbar zu niedrig eingeschätzt wurden und diese deshalb in zu gerin-

gem Umfang wertmindernd angesetzt wurden, haben Herr Wapelhorst und sein Team von mir ver-

langt, dass ich den Kaufpreis mit der BIMA nachverhandele. 

 

Ich habe ihnen die entsprechenden Passagen des Kaufvertrages übersandt und sie aufgefordert, mir 

zunächst aufzuzeigen, wo sie hier Öffnungsklauseln sehen, auf deren Basis sich für mich eine Ver-

handlungsposition eröffnete. Ich sehe die nicht und werde mich deshalb bei der BIMA auch nicht lä-

cherlich machen. 

Herr Wapelhorst wollte, dass ich den Grünzug verkleinere. Ich habe ihn darauf hingewiesen, dass wir 

den städtebaulichen Entwurf im Februar 2017 diskutiert haben und wir nun in der Endphase des B-

Planes sind. Ich halte es für unverantwortlich, an den Punkt vor 12 Monaten zurückzukehren. Wir ar-

beiten ja gerade deshalb so hart an dem Projekt, weil es nach meiner Einschätzung dafür nur ein klei-

nes Zeitfenster auf dem internationalen Finanzmarkt gibt. Wenn wir dieses Zeitfenster verpassen, 

wird das Projekt viel größere wirtschaftliche Probleme bekommen. 

Natürlich bin ich gerne bereit, konstruktiven Vorschlägen für eine verbesserte Wirtschaftlichkeit des 

Projektes nachzugehen. Ich selbst sehe allerdings keine weiteren Chancen, denn wenn ich sie gesehen 

hätte, hätte ich sie genutzt. Ich habe immer betont, dass wir für eine schwarze Null kämpfen müssen 

und habe das jederzeit getan und nichts ausgelassen. 



Ja, ich habe Sie gebeten, Herrn Renneke im Konzern zu versetzen. Das wäre das geringste Mittel ge-

wesen und ich bin dazu verpflichtet, es zu prüfen. Ich habe verstanden, dass es dazu keine Möglichkeit 

gibt und muss nun nach anderen Möglichkeiten suchen. 

Herr Wapelhorst und Frau Wennemers hatten genauso wie Sie gestern angezweifelt, dass es zu einer 

Wertberichtigung des Grundstückes kommen wird. Ich bin deshalb selbst ins Zweifeln gekommen und 

habe gestern noch einmal mit der Wirtschaftsprüferin gesprochen. Dabei ist mir klar geworden, dass 

wir offenbar aus verschiedenen Welten heraus argumentieren, Sie aus der Welt der Kameralistik, in 

der es offenbar möglich ist, das Problem erst zu lösen, wenn die letzten Ausgaben anstehen, und ich 

aus der Welt des HGBs heraus, in der das Problem in dem Jahr gelöst werden muss, in dem es offen-

sichtlich wird – und zwar durch die Wertberichtigung des Grundstückes. Das hat sie eindeutig bestä-

tigt. 

 

Stand heute muss es also bei Jahresabschluss 2018 einen Nachtragsbeschluss in Höhe des prognosti-

zierten Verlustes geben. Damit müsste die Stadt der WMS direkt Geld überweisen, dass die WMS zu-

rückstellen und auf ein Konto überweisen würde, bis es 2022 gebraucht würde. Das ist sicher nicht ge-

wollt. 

 

Indem ich vorgeschlagen habe, im Erschließungsvertrag die Erschließungsanlagen 2022 nicht kosten-

los an die Stadt zu übertragen, sondern die Stadt einige Kosten übernehmen zu lassen, habe ich nicht 

versucht, Probleme der WMS auf die Stadt zu übertragen. Ganz im Gegenteil habe ich einen Vorschlag 

gemacht, der verhindert, dass die Stadt schon zeitnah eine Transaktion, Stand heute in Millionen-

höhe, leisten muss, die die WMS zu diesem Zeitpunkt noch gar nicht braucht. Im Übrigen wollte ich 

die politische Diskussion um den Ankaufspreis vermeiden, obwohl ich selbst von dieser nichts zu be-

fürchten habe.  

 

Ich weiß, dass ich mich nicht beliebt mache, wenn ich hier noch einmal so hartnäckig bin und Ihnen 

noch einmal empfehle, diesen Weg zu prüfen, aber ich halte ihn für die letzte Möglichkeit, die Wertbe-

richtigung des Grundstückes und damit den Nachtrag zum Finanzplan 2018 zu vermeiden. Ich glaube, 

dass es hier zwischen uns einfach ein Missverständnis gibt, weil es mir bisher nicht gelungen ist zu er-

klären, dass ich vor Problemen auf der Bilanzebene warne und Ihnen Lösungsmöglichkeiten auf dieser 

Ebene aufzeige, während Sie glauben, dass ich auf der Ebene der echten Kosten solche der WMS in die 

Stadt abschieben möchte.  

Überhaupt haben Sie offenbar in den letzten Wochen den Eindruck gewonnen, dass ich mich auf Kos-

ten der Stadt aus der Verantwortung stehlen möchte. Das ist wirklich ein Missverständnis. Ich fühle 

mich für die WMS und die Stadt verantwortlich und setze meine ganze Arbeitskraft dafür ein. 

Den offenen Konflikt mit Herrn Wapelhorst will ich nicht wegdiskutieren. Den gibt es und ich habe 

auch keine Idee, wie er beendet werden könnte, denn es hat dazu schon Gespräche ohne Ergebnis ge-

geben. Ich werde mich an dieser Stelle auch weiterhin zur Wehr setzen. 

Mit freundlichen Grüßen  

Prof. Dr. Monika Dobberstein  

Geschäftsführerin Wirtschaft und Marketing Soest GmbH 

Von meinem iPad gesendet 

 

Am 04.03.2018 [Sonntag] um 07:57 schrieb Ruthemeyer, Eckhard <e.ruthemeyer@soest.de>: 

Guten Morgen Frau Dobberstein.  
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1. Da Sie bisher die Korrespondenz und den Kontakt mit der Botschaft und der Kriegsgräberfürsorge 

übernommen haben ist es sachgerecht, dass Sie die Rahmenbedingungen für eine Gedenkfeier klären. 

Dazu erwarte ich bis Montag 12.00 Uhr von Ihnen einen abgestimmten Vorschlag.  

Den Ablauf und die Organisation können Sie dann mit mir abstimmen. Für die Einladung und Abwick-

lung werden Sie von mir die nötigen Informationen und die ggf. erforderliche Unterstützung bekom-

men. 

2. Das Projekt „ Adam Kaserne“ müssen Sie jetzt in der vorliegenden Struktur abwickeln. Herr Ma-

ckenroth ist mit seine Projekten mehr als ausgelastet. 

Es ist für mich noch immer nicht nachvollziehbar, warum der vereinbarte Zeitplan für die  Erschlie-

ßung nicht eingehalten werden kann. In unserer nächsten Rücksprache erbitte ich dazu um entspre-

chende Informationen.  

Mir die Veränderung des Zeitplanes zwei Tage vor der Veranstaltung per Mail mitzuteilen,  nachdem 

Sie mir drei Tage davor den vereinbarten Zeitplan, über den wir in den letzen 15 Monaten mehrfach 

intensiv gesprochen haben, erneut als ambitioniert aber machbar dargestellt haben, zerstört erfor-

derliches Vertrauen für eine verlässliche Zusammenarbeit! 

3. Bezüglich einer möglichen Wertberichtigung des Grundstücks werde ich die Finanzabteilung bitten, 

dies mit ihrer Wirtschaftsprüferin abzustimmen. 

Die Welt der Kameralistik haben wir allerdings mit der Umstellung auf NKF längst hinter uns! 

4. Es bleibt bei der getroffenen Entscheidung keine Kosten auf die Stadt im Vorfeld zu verlagern. 

Herzliche Grüße  

Eckhard Ruthemeyer  

Von meinem iPad gesendet 

 

 

Von: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika m.dobberstein@soest.de  

Gesendet: Sonntag, 4. März 2018 16:06 

An: Ruthemeyer, Eckhard e.ruthemeyer@soest.de 

Betreff: Re: Missverständnisse 

Sehr geehrter Herr Ruthemeyer, 

Strassenplanung 

Ich habe in der Sitzung nicht gesagt, dass wir den Oktobertermin halten. Ich habe gesagt, dass ich 

nichts Gegenteiliges gehört habe. Wir machen aber weder regelmäßig Wirtschaftlichkeitsanalysen, 

noch Zeitpläne. Das passiert immer nur bei Milestones. Im Planungszyklus ist gerade ein solcher Mi-

lestone, denn wir haben in der letzten Woche sowohl den neuen B-Planentwurf als auch die Genehmi-

gungsplanung für die Erschließung abgegeben. Ich werde Herrn Göttlicher jetzt beauftragen, mit 

Herrn Mackenroth einen detaillierten Zeitplan auszuarbeiten, den ich Ihnen so schnell wie möglich zu-

kommen lasse.  

Ich habe Ihnen immer versichert, dass wir die Erschließung so schnell wie möglich machen werden 

und dabei bleibe ich. Aber schneller geht nicht.  

Bitte berücksichtigen Sie doch einmal, dass wir gerade 17 Monate nach Grundstücksankauf sind und 

das Projekt bei meinem Amtsantritt für 7 bis 10 Jahre geplant war. Derzeit sieht es so aus, dass wir in 
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weniger als 2 1/2 Jahren fertig sind. Ich verstehe deshalb  diese Wut überhaupt nicht. Ich mache da 

einen wirklich guten Job! 

 

Trauerfeier 

Da bisher vereinbart ist, dass für die Gedenkfeier erst der Grabstein aufgestellt werden soll, halte ich 

die Frist bis morgen 12:00 Uhr nicht für notwendig. Ich werde aber trotzdem Morgenfrüh versuchen, 

mit der Kriegsgräberfürsorge und der Botschaft zu telefonieren, obwohl ich mich eigentlich um die 

Einladung zum Aufsichtsrat kümmern muss, die morgen versandt werden muss und die Endverhand-

lung der Kaufverträge auch viel wichtiger ist. 

 

Grundstückswertberichtigung 

Die Wirtschaftsprüferin hat übrigens versprochen, mir das noch einmal aufzuschreiben. Ich leite Ihnen 

das weiter, sobald ich das Schreiben erhalte. 

Beim Erschliessungsvertrag würde es nicht darum gehen, dass die Stadt im Vorfeld Kosten über-

nimmt. Es würde vereinbart, dass bei Übergabe der Straßen, also voraussichtlich 2022, ein Betrag x 

an die WMS fließen würde. Das beträfe also erst den Haushalt 2022. Die Wertberichtigung und der 

damit verbundene Nachtrag zum Finanzplan betrifft den Haushalt 2018 und müsste in 2019 fließen. 

Mit freundlichen Grüßen  

Prof. Dr. Monika Dobberstein  

Geschäftsführerin Wirtschaft und Marketing Soest GmbH 

Von meinem iPad gesendet. 

 

Von: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika  

Gesendet: Mittwoch, 7. März 2018 16:37 

An: Limberg, Katja k.limberg@soest.de 

Betreff: Schreiben der Rusischen Botschaft vom 02.03.2018 

 

Hallo Frau Limberg, 

Dr. Ruthemeyer hatte mich doch gebeten, über das letzte Wochenende ein Konzept für den Grabstein 

und die Trauerfeier zu organisieren. Deshalb habe ich noch am Montagmorgen Kontakt mit der Bot-

schaft aufgenommen. In der Zwischenzeit ist es in einigen E-mails hin und her gegangen (siehe un-

ten). Das Schreiben der Botschaft ist deshalb veraltert, eine Antwort würde ich meinen, nicht mehr 

notwendig. 

M. Dobberstein 

 

 

Von: "Biller, Jana" <j.biller@soest.de> 

Datum: 7. März 2018 um 10:20:25 MEZ 

An: "Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika" <m.dobberstein@soest.de> 

Kopie: "Wennemers, Regina" <r.wennemers@soest.de>, "Wapelhorst, Peter" 
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<p.wapelhorst@soest.de> 

Betreff: WMS - Adamskaserne - Aufsichtsrat 22.03.2018 - Grundstücksabwertung lt. Wirtschafts-

prüferin 

Sehr geehrte Frau Dr. Monika Dobberstein, 

wie sie soeben telefonisch mit Frau Wennemers besprochen haben, nachfolgend unsere Punkte: 

Bezugnehmend auf die Unterlagen im Anhang der Einladung zum AR am 22.03.2018 besteht unserer-

seits Klärungsbedarf. Bitte legen Sie folgende Unterlagen vor bzw. erläutern Sie: 

Zu Top 2 – wieviel qm Grundstücksfläche werden verkauft. Verkaufspreis je qm? 

Zu Top 4 – Darstellung des Gesamtstandes des Projektes Adamskaserne + Vorlegen einer Nachkalku-

lation mit Ist-kosten und einer Vorkalkulation nach neustem Kenntnisstand unter Berücksichtigung 

der Gewerke und Grundstückseinteilungen (Lageplan) 

Zu Top 4 – Vorlegen einer mittelfristigen Finanzplanung (Finanzierungsmodel) aus der hervorgeht 

welcher Geldbedarf wann besteht. 

Hinweise: Die Unterlagen für b) und c) sollten so aufgearbeitet werden – dass sie aus heutiger Sicht 

geeignet sind projektbegleitend fortgeschrieben zu werden. Die Unterlagen sind zu jeder kommenden 

AR vorzulegen. 

Abgabetermin: 13.03.2018 

Grundstücksabwertung Adamskaserne zum Jahresende 2018: 

Um die Hintergründe die eine Abwertung zum Jahresende notwendig machen zu verstehen, ist es not-

wendig einen gemeinsamen Termin mit der Wirtschaftsprüferin zu vereinbaren. 

Dieser Termin sollte bis Ende Mai. Bitte stimmen Sie dies mit der Wirtschaftsprüferin ab und übersen-

den uns Terminvorschläge bis zum 13.03.2018. 

Bei Rückfragen stehe ich Ihnen gern zur Verfügung. 

  

Mit freundlichen Grüßen 

Jana Biller 

  

Stadt Soest 

-Abteilung Finanzen- 

 

Von: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika m.dobberstein@soest.de  

Gesendet: Donnerstag, 8. März 2018 06:50 

An: Ruthemeyer, Eckhard e.ruthemeyer@soest.de 

Cc: Wennemers, Regina r.wennemers@soest.de 

Betreff: Fwd: WMS - Adamskaserne - Aufsichtsrat 22.03.2018 - Grundstücksabwertung lt. Wirt-

schaftsprüferin 

 

Guten Morgen Herr Ruthemeyer, 
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ich habe gestern die unten stehende E-Mail von Frau Billa bekommen. Dazu möchte ich folgendes sa-

gen: 

Ich habe mit Herrn Göttlicher genau einen Mitarbeiter in der Projektentwicklung der Adam-Kaserne. 

Den kann ich jetzt entweder beauftragen, die Auschreibungsunterlagen für die Erschließung auszu-

schreiben oder die Zahlen für Frau Billa zu drehen, von denen sie selbst einsieht, dass diese keinerlei 

Steuerungsmöglichkeiten erzeugen. 

 

Tatsächlich gibt es derzeit nur noch wenig Steuerungsmöglichkeiten. Die Planungen sind abgeschlos-

sen. Der Abriss ist ausgeschrieben, hier müssen wir jetzt einfach abwarten, wie groß die Massen der 

einzelnen Stoffgruppen sind. Jetzt schreiben wir noch die Ausschreibungsunterlagen für die Erschlie-

ßung aus und anschließend die Erschließung selbst. Das ist alles nur noch Abwicklung. 

Es macht im Moment keinen Sinn, eine neue Wirtschaftlichkeitsanalyse zu erstellen, weil es keine 

neuen Erkenntnisse gibt. Insbesondere lassen sich auch die Abrisskosten nicht prognostizieren, wie 

Frau Billa das möchte. Die Abrissmassen liegen derzeit auf großen Hügeln. Es gibt keine Möglichkeit 

zu schätzen, ob wir im Plan sind oder nicht. Eine Wirtschaftlichkeitsanalyse macht erst im Juni wieder 

Sinn. Dann haben wir 

• Die endgültigen Abrisskosten, 

• Das Ergebnis der Ausschreibung der Bauträgergrundstücke und 

• Die Ergebnisse der Ausschreibung der Erschließungsanlagen. 

Ich lasse mir von der kleinsten Mitarbeiterin von Herrn Wapelhorst nicht sagen, was ich meinem Auf-

sichtsrat zu berichten habe.  

 

Ich möchte dringend darum bitten, dass das nicht zum neuen Ton zwischen uns wird. Im Moment 

habe ich das Gefühl, dass mir im vollen Lauf die Beine weggeschlagen werden. 

 

Herrn Göttlicher geht es nicht anders. Der erwartet Dank und nicht Beschuldigungen, zu langsam zu 

arbeiten. Nachdem er auch den rauen Ton spürt, hat er gestern übrigens aktenkundig gemacht, dass 

wir die Ausschreibungsunterlagen für die Erschließung nicht freihändig vergeben, sondern beschränkt 

ausschreiben sollten. Das verlängert das Projekt um weitere 10 Tage. 

 

Es ist verrückt, dass wir bei einem Projekt, dass einmal für 7 bis 10 Jahre angedacht war, über solche 

Zeiträume überhaupt reden müssen. Ich darf noch einmal sagen, wie schnell wir sind: Herr Griewel 

hatte geplant, dass die ersten Einnahmen im dritten Jahr und dann über 4 Jahre schrittweise fließen. 

Wenn alles so läuft, wie es im Moment aussieht, haben wir alle Einnahmen bereits nach 2 ½ Jahren 

vereinnahmt.  

 

Für die Blöcke 1 und 7 sollen die Einnahmen sogar sofort fließen, für die Blöcke 4 und 5 soll es eine 

Bürgschaft geben und auch für die Bauträgergrundstücke verlange ich bei Kaufvertragsabschluss eine 

Bürgschaft, so dass für die gewerblichen Grundstücke die Risiken sogar weitgehend nach 1 ½ bis 2 

Jahren verschwunden sind. 

 

Ich weise noch einmal darauf hin, dass ich einen Crash auf dem Finanzmarkt derzeit für das größte 

Risiko des Projektes halte. Die Zinsen steigen und die Renditen sind weiterhin im Fall. Irgendwann 

werden sich die beiden Kurven treffen und dann wird auf dem Immobilienmarkt für lange Zeit gar 

nichts mehr gehen. Das wird auch das Projekt Adam-Kaserne treffen, wie es 2007 auch das Ardey-Ge-

biet getroffen hat. Deshalb will ich das Projekt so schnell zum Abschluss führen. Sie wollen so schnell 



wie möglich die Häuser stehen habe, ich so schnell wie möglich, die Grundstückseinnahmen auf dem 

Konto der WMS. Das widerspricht sich nicht – wir beide wollen das Projekt so schnell wie möglich vo-

rantreiben.  

 

Und wir beiden wollen das Defizit so klein wie möglich halten. Auch zu diesem Punkt leiste ich vieles: 

Mit der Fehleinschätzung der Abrisskosten in Höhe von 1,1 Mio. € und den vergessenen Nebenstraßen 

mit einem Schaden von 2,6 Mio. € könnte das Defizit auch bei 3,7 Mio. € liegen und nicht wie prog-

nostiziert bei 1,2 Mio. €. Das ist sicher im Wesentlichen den steigenden Grundstückspreisen geschul-

det, mein Verdienst ist es aber, dass Projekt so schnell voranzutreiben, dass dieser kleine Zeitfenster, 

dieser kurze Wimpernschlag in der Geschichte, ausgenutzt werden kann. 

 

Anlage 19.03: Bitte um Hilfe an die Mediatorin Rüssel 

Von: Dobberstein Prof. Dr., Monika m.dobberstein@soest.de  

Gesendet: Donnerstag, 8. März 2018 20:15 

An: info@kanzlei-ruessel.de 

 

Betreff: Bitte um Telefontermin 

Sehr geehrte Frau Rüssel,  

Innerhalb einer Woche ist ein Konflikt mit meinem Bürgermeister so eskaliert, dass ich davon ausge-

hen, dass er meine Abberufung vorbereitet. Einen objektiven Grund gibt es nicht, aber er ist mittler-

weile so auf der Palme, dass ich nicht mehr weiß, wie ich ihn runterbringen soll. Ich brauche sehr 

schnell Hilfe, denn am 22.3. ist Aufsichtsratssitzung. 

Ein Problem ist, dass mein Vorgänger sein bester Kumpel war und ich gerade dessen ganze Fehler auf-

decke. Ich denke, er wünscht ihn sich zurück und der würde auch Gewehr bei Fuß stehen. 

Ein weiteres Problem ist, dass wir sehr unterschiedlich denken: er in Beton, ich in Finanzen, er in politi-

schen Folgen, ich in rechtlichen. Hinzu kommt, dass ihm ein Gen für Risikobewusstsein fehlt. Er will 

nichts von Problemen und Risiken wissen und steht immer nur auf dem Gaspedal. 

Anlass ist, dass er sich in den Kopf gesetzt hat, dass in einem Revitalisierungsprojekt die ersten Roh-

bauten zur Allerheiligenkirmes stehen. Dafür gibt es keinen Grund und das erwartet niemand außer er 

von uns. Als ich ihm sagte, dass wir zwei Monate länger brauchen, hat er rumgetobt, dass sei ein 

schweren Vertrauensverlust und ein Skandal. Tatsächlich mache ich aus einem für 7-10 Jahre geplan-

ten Projekt, ein 2 1/2 jähriges Projekt. Hinzu kommt, dass das Projekt in die Miesen rutscht, die Ursa-

che: er und sein guter Kumpel haben einen zu hohen Kaufpreis verhandelt. Ich wollte ihm eigentlich 

helfen und habe ihm vorgeschlagen, ein paar Kosten zur Stadt zu schieben, damit der Grundstücks-

wert nicht wertberichtigt werden muss. Er aber dachte, dass ich Kosten verursache, die ich zu ihm 

schieben will. Selbst wenn er das mittlerweile verstanden hätte, kann er von seiner Position nicht 

mehr zurück. 

Er fängt jetzt an, mich extrem zu demütigen, lässt mir Anweisungen von kleinsten Mitarbeitern ge-

ben. Ich bin körperlich total am Ende. Ich arbeite seit meinem Amtsantritt jeden Abend, jedes Wo-

chenende und ohne Urlaub. Das ging sehr gut, weil ich sehr glücklich und dankbar für den Job war. 

Das war eigentlich mein Traumjob, für den ich so hart gekämpft habe und den ich schon längst ver-

dient hätte. Ich mache einen super Job und die Stadt hat gerade angesichts dieses großen Projektes 

das Glück, mit mir jemanden gefunden zu haben, der Immobilien Know-how hat und in Verträgen und 

Bilanzen denken kann. Das ist für eine Wirtschaftsförderung sehr unüblich. 
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Ich arbeite so hart, weil ich auch will, dass das Projekt schnell über die Bühne geht, denn ich warte je-

den Tag auf den Crash auf dem Finanzmarkt. Deshalb war er am Anfang auch ganz angetan. 

Jetzt aber habe ich den Eindruck, dass mir in vollem Lauf die Beine weggeschlagen werden. Ich schlafe 

nicht mehr und kann so auch nicht mehr arbeiten. 

Könnten wir morgen telefonieren? 

Mit freundlichen Grüßen  

Prof. Dr. Monika Dobberstein  

There was undoubtedly a conflict, but it was exclusively with the mayor, as previously stated above, 
and not with the supervisory board. 

It is implausible that this conflict arose because the mayor wanted to be informed about the errors in 
the calculation from the purchase decision and the resulting negative forecasts before the supervi-
sory board meetings. It is more plausible that he wanted to know about the errors in the economic 
analysis underlying the purchase decision and the negative forecasts uncovered by our client in ad-
vance, in order to "pressure" our client into concealing them from the supervisory board, contrary to 
her legal obligation to provide comprehensive risk disclosure. 

The mayor had a motive for this: 

Our client's predecessor and the mayor had jointly pursued the purchase of the Adam Barracks over 
many years. In October 2012, they had already failed spectacularly: as part of the "Regionale" struc-
tural project, they had acquired €13.8 million in funding from the state. However, the city council 
refused to approve the project. It was the CDU (Christian Democratic Union), which left its own ma-
yor out in the cold. It must have been highly embarrassing to inform the state and the Südwestfalen 
Agency that the project would not be implemented and that the funding would be forfeited. 

Evidence: 

Soester Anzeiger: 

End of the "Adam Barracks" Project in Soest 

The future of the Adam Barracks in Soest is once again entirely uncertain. © Dahm SOEST ▪ The pro-
ject to refurbish the abandoned Adam Barracks, which have been dormant for two decades, into a 
cultural meeting place and a new residential area for over 20 million euros, has failed. The city of So-
est is pulling out and will no longer apply for funding from the "Regionale" project. The reason for 
this turnaround is a change of opinion within the CDU. Until recently and for over three years, they 
had been supporters of the project; however, on Tuesday evening in the main committee, they dec-
lared: "The city cannot afford the project," said Deputy Faction Leader Rolf Meiberg. One of the 
reasons for this new situation is, not least, the state's fault: initially, they had waved with an 80 per-
cent grant (24 million euros) for investment costs of over 30 million euros. However, during the sum-
mer break, this grant was reduced to 13.5 million euros. Since in the past, the Citizen's Association, 
FDP, Left, and SO Party had already distanced themselves from the project, the CDU decision has 
now removed the majority's support. 

 
Our client was informed from multiple sources that the proposal for the purchase had been rejected 
because people did not trust the calculations made by our client's predecessor. Anneliese Richter, for 
example, mentioned at the State Chancellery's Christmas reception on December 21, 2019, to the 
undersigned and our client that everyone knew our client's predecessor couldn't do math. 



This lack of trust is also evident in another article from the Soester Anzeiger in September 2012: 

FDP recalculates expenses for the Adam Barracks Created: 12.09.2012, 14:00 Uhr Comments SOEST - 
FDP faction leader Bernd Milke took the trouble to recalculate and scrutinize the complex figures for 
the multi-million euro renovation of the Adam Barracks. The result is some new impressive figures, 
ten questions for the mayor and treasurer, and the conclusion: "We cannot afford the project!" After 
the state had withdrawn its initial commitment to fund the project with 20 million euros, today there 
are still 13.8 million euros available from state funds. This amounts to a reduction of over 31 percent, 
as listed by Milke, who compares it to the additional burden the city now has to shoulder: almost 6.6 
million compared to the previous 5 million, representing an increase of 30 percent. At least it has 
now been admitted that the annual loss is more than a quarter of a million euros, whereas it was 
previously claimed that the project would break even (thanks to rental income and proceeds). 

But is the quarter of a million enough? Milke asks whether the losses include the costs of the trustee 
solution. When the Adam project was recalibrated, the state abandoned the idea of appointing a 
trustee to manage the project from A (like tendering) to Z (turnkey handover) for the city hall. How-
ever, this doesn't come for free. If they were to honor him with just five percent of the pure 
construction cost of 24.2 million euros, the cost would be 1.2 million euros. But where in the 
documents submitted to the city council for next week's deliberations does this item appear? The 
FDP asks this question. 

She continues to address nine other points of contention. What about the monument protection for 
the barracks, which significantly increases the renovation costs? Does it have to be there at all? Or 
are there ways to eliminate it? Milke wants to know and demands: "The mayor should state it 
clearly." And what will happen to the other monument protection and urban development projects 
in the city? is another question. 

In a brief note in the city's proposal, it simply states: "The above-average commitment of funds for 
the (Adam) project means that prospects for funding for other projects in the coming years will be 
limited." Because money is the crux of all considerations for the Adam Barracks, Milke requests that 
the key points for the 2013 budget be presented now - and not just after the decision for or against 
the Adam Barracks. 

Our client's predecessor remained in office beyond his retirement age after the spectacular failure in 
2012 and continued to work on the purchase of the Adam Barracks, this time with a different con-
cept (no culture, but housing) and without funding. Finally, in February 2016, the mayor and our cli-
ent's predecessor managed to persuade the council to pass a resolution to purchase. In this resolu-
tion, the CDU explicitly stipulated that the development must be cost-neutral. The purchase resolu-
tion was implemented on August 23, 2016, just a few days before our client took office, and the 
barracks were acquired. 

Soest City Buys the Adam Barracks Created: 26.02.2016 Updated: 29.02.2016, 14:06 Uhr By: Astrid 
Gunnemann Comments Soest - On Wednesday evening, the council voted in a closed session to 
purchase the Adam Barracks. With two-thirds of the votes and against the votes of the FDP and the 
Young Soest, approval was given for the acquisition of the property for 2.3 million euros. The 
barracks, built in the 1930s, still belong to the federal government and are managed by the Federal 
Agency for Real Estate Tasks (BIMA). Apartments are to be built on the approximately ten-hectare 
site, with 20 to 30 percent of them being social housing. "The council has instructed economic deve-
lopment to work out the purchase agreement," says Thorsten Bottin, city spokesman. The council 
considered it important to insist on cost neutrality for the overall project - there must be no long-
term follow-up costs. The FDP, like the Young Soest, expressed concerns about the purchase - for 
cost reasons. "We have concerns that the city will end up with costs that it cannot sustain in the long 



run. This is a big chunk, and reliable calculations must be the basis," says Thomas Howe of the Young 
Soest. "We have negotiated extensively, and now the purchase agreement must be notarized. Once 
the purchase agreement is concluded, work can begin on drawing up the development plan for the 
area. This will probably take place throughout 2016," says economic development officer Ferdinand 
Griewel. 

• Blocks one to three are listed as historical monuments and must be preserved. Blocks four 
to seven can be preserved and converted, but they don't have to be. "There are plenty of 
ideas for development," says Griewel. There will be investigations into whether to build 
new structures or demolish the old buildings, and a careful cost analysis will determine 
what is most cost-effective for the city. The city will now sit down with the numerous 
users of the barracks and discuss its future. This includes not only the Bem-Adam artist's 
house but also numerous associations and commercial users. "As part of the Regionale 
project, we had many ideas for the site. We look forward to engaging with the city again," 
says Chairman Kevin Isaac. Now is the right time to engage with everyone. 

• And then our client took office, looked at the economic analysis, saw a significant error 
when looking at the first number (the ratio of net building land to the total area), and im-
mediately realized that the side streets had been forgotten in the calculation—a mistake 
that would later be quantified at 2.6 million euros! 

• This must have been embarrassing for the mayor once again. Therefore, he had an inte-
rest in claiming that our client's findings were incorrect and that the economic analysis in 
the purchase resolution was, in fact, correct. 

• In conclusion, it should be noted that the assertion, "Regarding the Adam Barracks, it 
should be noted in this context that a first conflict in the supervisory board had already 
arisen because the plaintiff criticized the economic calculation made by the city. She clai-
med significant errors. Negative results were predicted. The plaintiff had not discussed 
this with the mayor in advance, so there was a discussion in the supervisory board about 
why the plaintiff had not raised these supposed errors in advance," is a false statement of 
fact. All of the sub-statements are also false statements: 
 

• • The economic analysis was not created by the city but by NRW-Urban on behalf of our cli-
ent's predecessor. • Our client didn't just criticize this economic analysis; she claimed errors 
because the economic analysis underlying the purchase resolution did indeed contain nu-
merous significant errors. • The negative forecast results presented by our client to the su-
pervisory board were not merely asserted; they were calculated seriously and were based 
on the numerous significant errors in the economic analysis that had led to misjudgments in 
the purchase negotiations with the BImA and, consequently, to a high purchase price. • 
There was no conflict with the supervisory board, but solely with the mayor. • The conflict 
was not triggered by our client failing to communicate the error regarding the "forgotten" 
side streets before the supervisory board meeting in November 2016. The conflict escalated 
in February 2018, when this error had already been known for 14 months. 

• In conclusion, the statements on page 14 of the response to the complaint dated Ap-
ril 22, 2021, which ultimately lead to the assertion on page 23 of the same submis-
sion that our client's performance record is inaccurate, constitute a disturbing se-
quence of false factual claims. 

• The statement that our client's performance record is inaccurate is, therefore, also a 
false factual assertion and not an evaluation of the services provided by our client: • 
The foundations upon which this assertion is made are themselves overwhelmingly 



false factual claims, and • The - inadmissible - relativizations of our client's achieve-
ments do not mean that the achievements listed in her performance record were not 
provided by our client. 

 

 

VIII. Furthermore, during the proceedings before the Arnsberg Regional Court, additional demonst-
rably false factual claims were made, which did not play a role in the context of the non-reappoint-
ment but are relevant in relation to the reported attempted fraud on the court. These primarily con-
sist of deliberate lies regarding the content and course of supervisory board meetings. 

At least those members of the WMS supervisory board who were already members in the previous 
council term (Ruthemeyer, Richter, Jochem, Schulze, Niermann, Haupt, Burges) and who participated 
in the disputed meetings knew positively that the corresponding presentation by the WMS in particu-
lar in the response to the complaint was false and did not accurately reflect the recorded content 
and course of the relevant meetings. 
 

• Thus, the supervisory board denies that Prof. Dr. Dobberstein used the supervisory board 
meeting on April 4, 2019, to extensively address the inappropriate treatment towards 
her and claims that she merely requested to "generally discuss the cooperation between 
her and the supervisory board." This is a false factual assertion and, furthermore, an in-
famous lie. 

Literally, in the minutes of the supervisory board meeting on April 4, 2019, which were 
not submitted to the court by the supervisory board but were provided to the court by 
the undersigned in a submission dated October 7, 2021, after they were anonymously 
delivered to her in September 2021, it states: 

"[Prof. Dr. Dobberstein] poses the question: how does the supervisory board envision 
cooperation in the future? She has been rebuffed repeatedly in supervisory board mee-
tings and now supervisory board members have participated in a petition against the ma-
naging director by asparagus suppliers on March 30th at the market in Soest, and the 
chairman of the supervisory board publicly withdrew his trust in her in the press. All of 
this, over what is merely a minor issue. Furthermore, internal matters continually leak to 
her detriment. She is doing an excellent job, but the supervisory board's treatment of her 
is in diametrical opposition to that. On the presentation slide that is simultaneously 
available, she announces that she will not leave voluntarily and intends to fight for her 
job. Because one thing must be clear to everyone, if you separate after 2 years in an un-
planned manner, then she will never get another job for the rest of her professional life. 
The supervisory board would end her career and destroy her existence." 

The minutes further state: 

"Several members of the supervisory board share the opinion that the treatment of the 
managing director is not right. One supervisory board member referred to the behavior 
as bullying. There was unanimity that the interaction with each other must improve in 
the future." 
 

• The supervisory board further claims in relation to Wasserfuhr I that Prof. Dr. Dobber-
stein failed to disclose that it led to a better result after the supervisory board rejected 
the proposals from the October meeting. This insinuates and makes the covert assertion 
that the supervisory board had valid criticisms of my client's concept for the Wasserfuhr 



commercial and industrial area, and the meeting was postponed to a date one month la-
ter because my client was instructed to revise the concept. 

This assertion is incorrect. The correct fact is that my client's development concept was 
not criticized in the slightest by the supervisory board, and she was not instructed to re-
vise this concept. 

In fact, my client had presented a proposal that involved an increase in purchase prices. 
However, the supervisory board members did not want to take responsibility for this 
price increase themselves to avoid drawing the aggressive ire of potential buyers. 

The minutes state the following verbatim: 

"The supervisory board instructs Prof. Dr. Dobberstein to engage in discussions with the 
interested parties with the goal of obtaining their agreement for an increase to €59.00 
per square meter by the next supervisory board meeting. The results of the discussions 
are to be presented on November 30, 2018. Only after that will the supervisory board de-
cide on a price increase." 

At the end of the minutes, it is stated once again: "WMS is tasked with clarifying with the 
prospective property buyers to what extent they are willing to accept a price increase of 
€7.00 per square meter to €59.00 per square meter." 
 

• The supervisory board further states regarding the supervisory board meeting on January 
22, 2020: 
 
"The previously mentioned witness Jochem did not refer to the scoring model as manipu-
lative. This is not his choice of words," page 11 of the defense statement. 
 
However, in the minutes of this meeting, it is stated verbatim: 
 
"Mr. Jochem expresses his dissatisfaction and finds the explanations by the managing di-
rector to be manipulative. He is used to receiving the points presented neutrally in order 
to make a decision. Due to the manipulative presentation by the managing director a-
lone, he blackens, blackens, blackens, blackens. Ms. Dobberstein responds that she has 
prepared her opinion - as requested in the last meeting - in a matrix. She has disclosed 
her evaluation criteria, weighting, and assessment and has also disclosed all correspon-
dence to the supervisory board. More transparency is not possible." 
 
Further down in the minutes, Anneliese Richter is quoted as saying that she only consi-
ders external influence as manipulative, referring to Martin Jochem's comment. 
 
If the supervisory board member Jochem (CDU) referred to the "presentation" of the 
facts by our client in the supervisory boardmeeting on January 22, 2020, as "manipula-
tive," he specifically means the scoring model developed by our client, as she had exclusi-
vely presented the facts in this scoring model for the supervisory board's decision. 
 
As a witness for this statement, in addition to Martin Jochem, Andre Hänsch has offered 
himself to the court. He was the chairman of the supervisory board at that time and, in 
that capacity, even signed the minutes that prove the opposite of what is stated in the 
defense statement.s 


